Withdrawal syndrome and comorbidity in alcohol use disorder: focusing on anxiety

Ildikó Katalin Csomós-Pribék Ph.D. Thesis

Szeged

2022

Withdrawal syndrome and comorbidity in alcohol use disorder: focusing on anxiety

Ph.D. Thesis

Ildikó Katalin Csomós-Pribék, M.A.



Doctoral School of Clinical Medicine Department of Psychiatry Albert Szent-Györgyi Medical School University of Szeged

Supervisors:

Zoltán Janka, M.D., Ph.D., D.Sc.

professor emeritus

Department of Psychiatry, Albert Szent-Györgyi Medical School, University of Szeged

Bálint Andó, M.A., Ph.D.

senior lecturer

Department of Psychiatry, Albert Szent-Györgyi Medical School, University of Szeged

Szeged

2022

Original research articles related to the thesis:

I. Pribék, I. K., Szűcs, K. F., Süle, M., Grosz, G., Ducza, E., Vigh, D., Tóth, E., Janka, Z., Kálmán, J., Datki, Z.L., Gáspár, R., Andó, B. (2021). Detection of acute stress by smooth muscle electromyography: A translational study on rat and human. *Life Sciences*, 277, 119492.

SJR Indicator: D1 **Expected IF: 5.037**

II. Pribék, I. K., Kovács, I., Kádár, B. K., Kovács, C. S., Richman, M. J., Janka, Z., Andó, B., Lázár, B. A. (2021). Evaluation of the course and treatment of Alcohol Withdrawal Syndrome with the Clinical Institute Withdrawal Assessment for Alcohol–Revised: A systematic review-based meta-analysis. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 220, 108536.

SJR Indicator: D1 Expected IF: 4.492

- III. Kovács, I., Pribék, I. K., Demeter, I., Rózsa, S., Janka, Z., Demetrovics, Z., Andó, B. (2020). The personality profile of chronic alcohol dependent patients with comorbid gambling disorder symptoms. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 101, 152183.
 SJR Indicator: Q1 IF: 3.735
- IV. Lázár, B. A., Pribék, I. K., Kovács, Cs., Demeter, I., Kálmán, J., Szemelyácz, J., Kelemen, G., Janka. Z., Demetrovics, Z., Andó, B. (2019). [The first step towards a unified approach: validation of the Hungarian version of the Clinical Institute Withdrawal Assessment of Alcohol, Revised in Hungarian general hospital settings]. Orvosi Hetilap, 160(30), 1184–1192.

SJR Indicator: Q3 IF: 0.497

Cumulative impact factor of the original papers related to the thesis: 13.761

Table of contents

I. ABBREVIATIONS1
II. SCOPE AND AIMS OF THE PRESENT THESIS2
III. BACKGROUND
1. THE CLNICAL COURSE OF ALCOHOL USE DISORDER REGARDING COMPLICATIONS AND COMORBIDITIES
2. THE APPEARANCE OF ANXIETY IN ALCOHOL USE DISORDER
2.1. The definition of anxiety and the prevalence of anxiety in alcohol use disorder
2.2. The psycho-physiological response of anxiety
2.3. The background and the significance of alcohol use disorder and anxiety
3. ANXIETY IN WITHDRAWAL SYNDROME AND GAMBLING COMORBIDITY IN ALCOHOL USE DISORDER
4. MEASURING ANXIETY IN ALCOHOL USE DISORDER IN DIFFERENT STAGES
IV. AIMS AND HYPOTHESIS
V. METHODS AND MATERIALS 15
1. STUDY 1: Measuring state anxiety among normal population15
1.1. Participants and procedure15
1.2. Measures
1.3. Statistical analysis
2. STUDY 2: Examining the course of alcohol withdrawal syndrome and the ecological validity of CIWA-Ar
2.1. Search strategy and study selection
2.2. Statistical analysis
3. STUDY 3: Exploring the potential role of anxiety in the course of alcohol withdrawal syndrome
3.1. Participants and procedure
3.2. Measures
3.3. Statistical analysis
4. STUDY 4: Anxiety in alcohol use disorder and comorbid gambling involvement
4.1. Participants and procedure
4.2. Measures
4.3. Statistical analysis
VI. RESULTS
1. STUDY 1: Measuring state anxiety among normal population

2. STUDY 2: Examining the course of alcohol withdrawal syndrome and the ecological validity of CIWA-Ar
2.1. Publication bias and heterogeneity
2.2. Analysis of the aggregated CIWA-Ar total scores in the meta-analysis
3. STUDY 3: Exploring the potential role of anxiety in the course of alcohol withdrawal syndrome
4. STUDY 4: Anxiety in alcohol use disorder and comorbid gambling involvement
4.1. Grouping and personality profiles according to cluster analysis of the sample
4.2. Group differences and gambling prevalence in the sample
4.3. Comparison of normative sample scores and patient group differences in TCI-R dimensions
VII. DISCUSSION
VIII. MAIN FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS 42
IX. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
X. REFERENCES

I. ABBREVIATIONS

AUD: alcohol use disorder AUDIT: Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test AWS: alcohol withdrawal syndrome BMI: body mass index BZD: benzodiazepine BT: body temperature CIWA-Ar: Clinical Institute Withdrawal Assessment of Alcohol, Revised **CO:** Cooperativeness DSM-5: Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition GAD: generalized anxiety disorder GABA: γ-aminobutyric acid GBA: gut-brain axis GD: gambling disorder GI: gastrointestinal GSI: Global Severity Index GSR: galvanic skin response HA: Harm Avoidance HPA axis: hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis HR: heart rate nBZD: non-benzodiazepine NS: Novelty Seeking **PS:** Persistence PRISMA: Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses **RD:** Reward Dependence SAM-system: sympathetic-adrenal-medullary system SCL-R-90: Symptom Checklist Revised **SD:** Self-directedness ST: Self-transcendence STAI: Spielberger State Anxiety Inventory **TSST:** Trier Social Stress Test

II. SCOPE AND AIMS OF THE PRESENT THESIS

Alcohol use disorder (AUD) and anxiety are highly comorbid and anxiety may appear in the complication of AUD. Different critical treatment points are crucial to examine AUD patients: alcohol withdrawal syndrome (AWS) which is one of the most common complication of AUD and during rehabilitation.

Scientific literature indicated that AUD patients with comorbid anxiety disorders show more severe alcohol withdrawal syndrome. In the early recovery, anxiety also maintains which is one of the most important indicator of relapse. Furthermore, patients with comorbid AUD and anxiety disorders have an increased risk for developing gambling disorder which is one of the most common comorbid behavioral addiction in AUD. Thus, it is essential to examine the anxiety in these critical clinical stages of AUD such as AWS and early recovery phase. During the early recovery phase, examination of the further comorbid conditions such as gambling involvement is also vital. Investigation of anxiety is crucial since it can determine the treatment planning as well as the treatment outcomes.

In the present thesis, four studies were conducted where the appearance of anxiety was examined comprehensively and defined differently among normal population as well as in the complication and comorbidity of AUD during different treatment points. For this purpose, the present thesis aimed to address three main aims. Our first aim was a comprehensive investigation of anxiety in a normal population, the second was to explore the anxiety level during alcohol withdrawal syndrome with a tool validated by our research group and the third major aim was to examine anxiety among treatment-seeking AUD patients and comorbid gambling involvement.

The main goals of the studies comprising the present thesis were the following:

- 1. To investigate the autonomic response of moderate acute anxiety response induced by laboratory conditions in normal population comprehensively (Study 1).
- To examine the course of AWS based on the internationally published aggregated Clinical Institute Withdrawal Assessment of Alcohol, Revised (CIWA-Ar) total scores using a meta-analysis (Study 2).
- To explore the anxiety in case of one of the most common complication of AUD, during AWS and without AWS in case of comorbid gambling involvement which is one of the most common comorbid behavior addiction in AUD (Study 3 and Study 4).
- 4. To symptomatically examine the appearance of anxiety during AWS (Study 3).

- 5. To investigate anxiety as temperament variable among AUD patients (Study 4).
- 6. To investigate anxiety as temperament variable among AUD patients with comorbid gambling involvement (Study 4).
- 7. To compare AUD patients with and without comorbid gambling involvement regarding anxiety as temperament variable (Study 4).

III. BACKGROUND

1. THE CLNICAL COURSE OF ALCOHOL USE DISORDER REGARDING COMPLICATIONS AND COMORBIDITIES

Alcohol use disorder (AUD) is defined as a problematic pattern of alcohol use which leads to clinically significant impairment. Several risk factors were identified for developing AUD (e.g. biological, psychological and/or environmental variables (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). The prevalence of alcohol use disorder is dominant worldwide and epidemiological studies demonstrated that AUD was the most prevalent substance use disorder globally ('The Global Burden of Disease Attributable to Alcohol and Drug Use in 195 Countries and Territories, 1990–2016', 2018). Similarly, studies also emphasized the high prevalence of the alcohol consumption and alcohol use disorder in Hungary (Horvat et al., 2018; Paksi et al., 2011; World Health Organization, 2018).

There is a great variance regarding the course of AUD. AUD could be accompanied by several comorbid states and numerous complications can develop as consequences of prolonged AUD. Different critical treatment points are essential to examine AUD patients: alcohol withdrawal syndrome (AWS) which is one of the most common complication of AUD and the phase during rehabilitation without AWS symptoms.

Several complications can develop as a result of prolonged alcohol use disorder (Maciel, 2004) including the acute withdrawal and delayed consequences such as chronic cognitive disorders (e.g. Wernicke encephalopathy or Korsakoff-syndrome) (Noble & Weimer, 2014). Alcohol withdrawal syndrome is one of the most common complication of AUD which occurs among half of the AUD patients (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). The prevalence of the symptoms of AWS is particularly high among AUD patients admitted for detoxification and rehabilitation (up to 86%) (Caetano et al., 1998). AWS can develop after rapid reduction or cessation of alcohol (American Psychiatric Association, 2013) and the first symptoms appears within 6-24 hours (Hall & Zador, 1997). The intensity and severity of AWS are different during the course of AWS (Maciel, 2004). The authors agreed that the clinical description of AWS divides the first 6-72 hours according to the symptom severity and the chance of the appearance

of severe complications from the complete course of AWS, which may take 2 weeks (Haber et al., 2009). The main leading symptoms of AWS include autonomic symptoms (e.g. sweating), tremor, nausea and/or vomiting, headache, seizures, perceptual disturbances (auditory, tactile or visual), psychomotor agitation and anxiety (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). AWS may lead to severe consequences such as withdrawal seizures and delirium tremens (McKeon et al., 2008). Delirium tremens represents the most fatal and prolonged form of alcohol withdrawal which includes autonomic disarray, hallucinations and disorientations. Since delirium tremens is characterized by high degree of mortality therefore it is vital to monitor the patients at risk and to prevent its development (Noble & Weimer, 2014). It can be seen that AWS occurs commonly among AUD patients therefore the recognition and objectivization of the course and symptoms of AWS are essential in order to prevent the development of more severe complications.

Furthermore, the phase without AWS symptoms is described a more stable stage. In general, recovery is defined as a ,,process of change through which individuals improve their health and wellness, live a self-directed life, and strive to reach their full potential" (SAMHSA, 2012). Several recovery pathway are available from recovering without treatment through peer resources to professional treatment. There are sex differences regarding help-seeking and men have higher help-seeking rates compared to women (Tucker et al., 2020). During recovery phase, craving is an essential factor and it was described by a strong predictive impact on potential relapse. In general, craving is a core feature in AUD. It refers to the urge or desire to relive the previously experienced psychoactive substance (UNDCP & WHO, 1992) and it can maintain for months after the last intake (Mathew et al., 1979). Remission of AUD is influenced by sociodemographic features such as sex or age, alcohol-related variables (e.g. the length of the AUD), personality and comorbidity (Dawson et al., 2007; Lopez-Quintero et al., 2011; Moos & Moos, 2006; Tucker et al., 2020).

AUD is highly comorbid with several somatic (e.g. cerebrovascular, pulmonary and metabolic disorders) and psychiatric disorders (e.g. personality disorders, internalizing disorders, schizophrenia, mood disorders and other addictive disorders) (Abebe et al., 2021; Castillo-Carniglia et al., 2019). The co-occurrence of AUD and behavior addictions (e.g. compulsive buying, internet addiction, exercise addiction and sexual addiction) are high (Di Nicola et al., 2015), especially gambling disorder (GD) shows a particularly elevated comorbidity with AUD. AUD and GD were described by shared aetiology, neurobiological characteristics (Grant et al., 2006), psychiatric comorbidity (Petry et al., 2005), vulnerability factors (Slutske et al., 2000) and psychological risk factors (Aluja et al., 2019). Gambling

disorder is a persistent, recurrent and maladaptive gambling behaviour which changes the personal, family or professional life of the individual (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). According to the DSM-5, it is visible that the diagnostic categories of AUD and GD overlap. The most significant similarities in clinical symptoms of these disorder are tolerance, craving, withdrawal syndrome, adverse consequences (existential/ work-related disadvantages), high relapse, low treatment participation, loss of control, higher impulsivity and disfunctions in disinhibitory control (Andó et al., 2016). Lifetime prevalence of excessive gambling such as problem and pathological gambling varies between 1.1-6.5% according to a population-based study from Europe. In Hungary, the prevalence of problem gambling was 1.9% and the rate of pathological gambling was 1.4%. The frequency of alcohol drinking was associated with the severity of gambling behavior: while those who drank alcohol once a week in the previous year, 1.4% showed problem gambling and 0.9% had pathological gambling, those who drank more than once a week showed 4.8% and 4.5%, respectively (Kun et al., 2012). In addition, AUD is highly comorbid with anxiety disorders (Boschloo et al., 2011; Grant et al., 2004; Vorspan et al., 2015).

2. THE APPEARANCE OF ANXIETY IN ALCOHOL USE DISORDER

2.1. The definition of anxiety and the prevalence of anxiety in alcohol use disorder

Anxiety is a mental health concern worldwide and shows comorbidity with a numerous psychiatric disorders therefore recognizing and treating comorbid conditions of anxiety is essential. According to the concept of anxiety based on DSM-5, anxiety is "the apprehensive anticipation of future danger or misfortune accompanied by a feeling of worry, distress, and/or somatic symptoms of tension" (American Psychiatric Association, 2013, pp. 818).

The comorbid association between anxiety and addictive disorders has already been confirmed by several previous studies (e.g. nicotine dependence, cannabis use disorder, opiate dependence, internet disorder, gambling disorder and alcohol use disorder etc.) (Ho et al., 2014; Lorains et al., 2011; Vorspan et al., 2015). Previous studies emphasized a particularly strong relationship between anxiety and alcohol use disorders (Boschloo et al., 2011; Grant et al., 2004; Vorspan et al., 2015). According to the literature, the co-occurrence of alcohol use disorder and anxiety disorder was described by high prevalence. The co-occurrence of these disorders was 23.45% in the United States (Grant et al., 2004). However, this association is bidirectional, anxiety disorders can lead to alcohol use disorders and vice versa (Kushner et al., 1999). For instance, one-quarter to one-half of the patients with anxiety disorders reported a lifetime history of an alcohol or substance use disorder (Kaufman & Charney, 2000). In addition,

patients with AUD had three times more likely to have an anxiety disorder (Burns & Teesson, 2002). Regarding anxiety disorders, especially social anxiety disorder has a high degree of comorbidity with AUD; the lifetime prevalence of social anxiety disorder was 2.4% in AUD (Schneier et al., 2010). The high co-occurrence of AUD and anxiety is visible therefore it is vital to explore the manifestation of anxiety in AUD since the psychological and somatic effects were often more severe in case of comorbidity (Pasche, 2012).

2.2. The psycho-physiological response of anxiety

Acute anxiety has a comprehensive multidimensional psycho-physiological response which includes complex physiological, psychological and specific behavioural aspects. Although anxiety could be a natural adaptive reaction, a pathological state may develop therefore coping with the challenges and/or stressful events can be difficult (Steimer, 2002). During experiencing acute anxiety, immediate and comprehensive consequences of the autonomic nervous system appear which are the most common perceived response (Steimer, 2002). Cardiovascular (e.g. tachycardia, pain in the chest and arrhythmia), respiratory (e.g. breathlessness and choking sensation), gastrointestinal (e.g. nausea and diarrhea), urinary, neurological (e.g. vertigo and trembling) and dermatological symptoms (e.g. hyperhidrosis) may occur during anxiety response (Perrotta, 2019). Based on the DSM-5, common psychological effects of anxiety are worry, distress and feelings of tension (American Psychiatric Association, 2013).

In case of the psycho-physiological responses of anxiety, it is crucial to highlight the relationship between anxiety and stress response. Stress is a non-specific response of the body to any kind of encumbrance and its trigger factors are called stressors (Selye, 1973). The physiological response of the stressors is a complex phenomenon and anxiety can considered as part of a maladaptive psychological response to stress (Friedman et al., 1992; Liu et al., 2017). While the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis is responsible for the long-term response in chronic stress (Selye, 1950, 1984), sympathetic-adrenal-medullary (SAM) system is activated during acute stress. It was documented that the increase of the heart frequency and body temperature or reduced galvanic skin response are common responses to acute stress induction (Civitello et al., 2014; Kirschbaum et al., 1989; Marazziti et al., 1992). Furthermore, previous studies demonstrated that anxiety and stress response have a substantial impact on the gastrointestinal area which is measurable non-invasively with the electrical activity of the GI smooth muscles (Homma, 2005; Riezzo et al., 1996).

In conclusion, these studies highlighted that anxiety has multifaceted effects which was examined from many aspects in the scientific literature. The further accent of these effects is particularly important because the chronic presence of anxiety can lead to the development of various clinical disorders.

2.3. The background and the significance of alcohol use disorder and anxiety

The relationship between anxiety and AUD was explained by several models which investigated these associations from several perspectives. Firstly, it is important to mention some earlier theories, namely the stress-reducing effect of alcohol (Sher & Levenson, 1982) or the tension reduction hypothesis and the self-medication hypothesis (Robinson et al., 2009). Based on these theories, alcohol consumption acts as negative reinforcements (Pasche, 2012) i.e. individuals will tend to avoid behaviours and environments which induce this negative state (De Witte et al., 2003). Drinking alcohol may suppress and prevent the appearance of the physiological and mood changes. Consequently, alcohol intake was often perceived as advantageous which provided substantial reinforcement therefore the individual will seek environments and develop behaviours aiming drinking alcohol (De Witte et al., 2003). However, several articles suggested the elevated physiological (e.g. heart frequency) (Cofresí et al., 2020) and subjective feelings of anxiety during alcohol intake (Logue et al., 1978). Considering the self-medication hypothesis which had received the most attention in the literature (Smith & Randall, 2012), drinking to cope could be described as a potential marker for developing AUD (Anker & Kushner, 2019; Pasche, 2012).

In addition, substance-induced anxiety model is also important which emphasized that anxiety develops as a consequence of heavy and chronic alcohol drinking. This model specifically highlighted that patients develop anxiety due to chronic alcohol consumption. Prolonged alcohol use disorder causes overall γ -aminobutyric acid (GABA) deficiency which can offset the effects of acute alcohol intake and can induce anxiety (Smith & Randall, 2012). The recurrence of withdrawal can cause a progressive neural adaptation (i.e. kindling) and this results in an elevated susceptibility to anxiety and if the patients reduce alcohol drinking the stress-induced negative affect will be exacerbated (Breese et al., 2005).

However, recent studies suggest no direct causal relationship between anxiety and AUD therefore their joint presence was described as a third variable. It was reported that if other variables (e.g. depression and/or earlier substance use) are taken into account and were controlled in the development of AUD, the early presence of anxiety was no longer a significant predictor (Goodwin et al., 2002). This study led to the common-factor model which indicates

that common factors of the co-occurrence can be anxiety sensitivity and genetic factors (Smith & Randall, 2012). Considering genetic factors, investigations suggested that AUD and anxiety may be genetically associated (Schuckit, 1994) which propose a genetic overlap between substance use disorders and anxiety disorders such as generalized anxiety disorders (Kendler et al., 2003).

In conclusion, several theories are available to describe the complex relationship between anxiety and AUD therefore it is particularly important to gain a better understanding of the co-occurrence of these disorders.

3. ANXIETY IN WITHDRAWAL SYNDROME AND GAMBLING COMORBIDITY IN ALCOHOL USE DISORDER

Anxiety is found in high proportions in the complication and comorbidity of alcohol use disorder in different clinical stages. Therefore, investigating the relationship between anxiety and alcohol use disorder is pivotal among AUD patients.

Anxiety is a common symptom during the course of AWS, almost 98% of alcohol dependent men had at least one anxiety symptom during drinking or withdrawal (Schuckit et al., 1990). Furthermore, it was demonstrated that AUD patients with co-existing anxiety disorders reported more severe withdrawal symptoms in the course of AWS than patients without anxiety disorders. This can explained by the common neurochemical basis for these conditions (Johnston et al., 1991). Similarly, the findings of Thevos et al. (1991) underscore the more severe symptoms during AWS with anxiety disorders. These results suggested that patients should be carefully evaluated for potential psychiatric symptoms, especially for anxiety which may cause different prognosis and unique treatment needs during AWS (Schuckit & Hesselbrock, 2004). Therefore, the symptomatic exploration of anxiety is essential during the course of AWS.

During rehabilitation, anxiety was also elevated in case of AUD with anxiety disorders (Thevos et al., 1991). However, it was demonstrated that state anxiety was continuously decreased among AUD patients with lifetime anxiety disorders (Driessen et al., 2001). Accordingly, the severity of psychopathology was also declined during the first 4 weeks after detoxification (Driessen et al., 2001). In case of comorbidity, the psychological and somatic symptoms were often more severe which suggested that the comorbidity complicated the treatment and the prognosis could be worsen (Pasche, 2012). Examining anxiety during abstinence is important since anxiety is one of the most important indicator of relapse (Kushner et al., 2005). In case of the co-occurrence of AUD and anxiety disorder, more than twice as

many patients relapsed within 4 months after treatment (Kushner et al., 2005). Moreover, the likelihood of recovery was lowered and the likelihood of the recurrence was increased in case of comorbidity (Bruce et al., 2005). Based on the prospective study of Bruce et al. (2005), the presence of a comorbid alcohol or other substance use disorder decreased the chance of recovery from generalized anxiety disorder by nearly fivefold and the recurrence of generalized anxiety disorder was increased by more than threefold. It is visible that the co-occurrence of anxiety and AUD has a substantial impact on the treatment outcomes during withdrawal and rehabilitation. Furthermore, AUD patients with comorbid anxiety disorders reported lower rate of abstinence than without comorbidity and relapsers demonstrated more trait anxiety than abstainers (Driessen et al., 2001).

Previous studies demonstrated that the occurrence of gambling involvement is common in case of the AUD and anxiety disorders, respectively. As detailed above, gambling disorder is one of the most common comorbid behavioural addictions in AUD (Di Nicola et al., 2015). Furthermore, anxiety also plays an essential role in the development of gambling (Coman et al., 1997). If these two phenomena occur together, patients are five times more likely to develop severe gambling than individuals without concurrent diagnosis or without psychiatric disorders (el-Guebaly et al., 2006). Thus, the impact of AUD and anxiety can be identified on gambling behaviour, however, there is a lack of studies which compares AUD patients and AUD patients with GD symptoms based on the anxiety level.

These results revealed that anxiety and AUD often appear together and special attention should be paid to the exploration of anxiety in the complication and comorbidity of AUD. These studies also demonstrated that AUD with comorbid anxiety has more severe clinical characteristics and symptom severity in case of comorbidity. The findings indicated that a more severe anxiety may have a long-term consequences. In addition, it has a significant impact on the treatment considerations and planning of the adequate treatment (Johnston et al., 1991). These results suggested that if an anxiety disorder maintains alcohol use disorder, effective treatment for anxiety should reduce alcohol consumption and also reduce the likelihood of relapse after treatment (Anker & Kushner, 2019).

4. MEASURING ANXIETY IN ALCOHOL USE DISORDER IN DIFFERENT STAGES

It can be seen that anxiety appears in AUD. However, no comprehensive study has yet been conducted to summarize the measurement possibilities of anxiety in different stages of the treatment of AUD. Therefore, these several measurement tools were detailed in the Table 1 which lists the assessment tools containing anxiety indicators during the course of AWS and without withdrawal.

Table 1: List and brief description of assessment tools containing anxiety indicators in d	lifferent
stages of the treatment of AUD	

Name of assessment tool	Description
Clinical Institute Withdrawal Assessment of Alcohol (CIWA-A) ¹ (Shaw et al., 1981)	A validated 15-item scale which evaluates the AWS symptoms by the clinicians.
Clinical Institute Withdrawal Assessment of Alcohol, Revised (CIWA-Ar) ¹ (Sullivan et al., 1989)	A 10-item tool scale based on the patient's answers as well as the clinician's observations.
Visual analogue scale of the patient's global feelings/symptoms ¹ (Björkqvist et al., 1976)	The clinician evaluates the global AWS symptoms on a 10-cm "thermometer" scale where the left end of the scale represents a condition that could not be worse and the right end means the best possible condition.
Evaluating the symptoms with 3 or 5- point scale ¹ (Agricola et al., 1982; Flygenring et al., 1984)	The clinician evaluates the AWS symptoms on a 3 or 5-point scale.
Abstinence Symptom Evaluation (ASE) ¹ (Knott et al., 1981)	The clinician evaluates the AWS symptoms on a 3- point scale.
Modified Selective Severity Assessment (MSSA) ¹ (Benzer, 1990)	A nurse evaluates the AWS symptoms on a 10-item scale. Anxiety was examined in the perspective of agitation.
Alcohol-Withdrawal Scale (AWS) ¹ (Wetterling et al., 1997)	A nurse evaluates the AWS symptoms on a 11-item scale.
Alcohol Withdrawal Symptoms Checklist (AWSC) ¹ (Pittman et al., 2007)	A 14-item instrument for rating the symptoms of AWS on a 4-point scale. The patients are asked to evaluate their symptoms within the last day.
Mainz Alcohol Withdrawal Scale (MAWS) ¹ (Banger et al., 1992)	A clinically experienced resident evaluates the symptoms of AWS with an 8-item tool on a 0-3 rating scale.
Beck Anxiety Inventory (BAI) ² (Beck et al., 1988)	A 21-item, self-report tool measuring the anxiety symptoms which are not typical in depression. It is

	used to distinguish between depressive and anxiety
	symptoms.
Hamilton Anxiety Scale (HAM-A) ²	A 14-item instrument evaluating the anxiety
(Hamilton, 1959)	symptoms by the clinicians on a 0-4 rating scale.
Spielberger State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI) ² (Spielberger et al., 1970)	A self-report, 40-item tool including two parts which measure the state anxiety and trait anxiety.
Temperament and Character Inventory-Revised (TCI-R) ² (Cloninger, 1999)	A self-report questionnaire consists of 240 items and examines 4 temperament and 3 character dimensions. Harm Avoidance temperament scale indicates anxiety.
Eysenck Personality	Self-report tool which examines 3 personality
Questionnaire (EPQ) ² (Eysenck &	dimensions and includes a Lie scale. Neuroticism
Eysenck, 1975)	scale refers to anxiety.
Big Five Questionnaire (BFQ) ² (Costa & McCrae, 1985)	Self-report questionnaire which examines 5 dimensions. Neuroticism scale refers to anxiety.

Notes: Numbers in upper index represent the different clinical stages of the treatment of alcohol use disorder. In these treatment stages the measurement tool is suitable to evaluate the anxiety in AUD (1 - withdrawal, 2 - rehabilitation). Name of the assessment tool used in the present thesis was marked in bold.

During the acute withdrawal phase, it is difficult to evaluate anxiety due to the physical condition of the patients therefore the clinicians often should rely mainly on observing the patient, or perhaps if the withdrawal syndrome is mild, the patient's anxiety level can be determined by asking the patient. Previously, not validated tools were used to evaluate the severity and symptoms of AWS. Later, tools were developed that were validated based on psychometric analyses. Validation of tools is critical because it allows a reliable measurement of the symptoms and the course of AWS which can be used later during treatment.

Among the validated tools, the Clinical Institute Withdrawal Assessment of Alcohol, Revised (CIWA-Ar) is a frequently utilized measurement tool (Sullivan et al., 1989) which is also recommended by international protocols and guidelines (Hoffman & Weinhouse, 2021; National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE), 2017; Sachdeva et al., 2015). The 10-item tool is based on the patient's answers as well as the clinician's observations. The items contain the symptoms of AWS such as nausea and vomiting, tremor, sweating, auditory, visual and tactile disturbances, headache, orientation, agitation and anxiety. Thus, anxiety is defined in this tool by observation and also asking the patient ("Do you feel nervous?") (Sullivan et al., 1989). Anxiety is evaluated by a 7-point Likert scale. Patients with 0 score were described without anxiety, 1 score indicate mildly anxious state, 4 score suggest moderately anxious state, 7 score imply equivalent to acute panic state. However, since the symptoms of AWS have not yet been operationalized in Hungary, it is difficult to measure the symptom of anxiety in Hungary during AWS. Objective measurements for monitoring the course, the severity and the symptoms of AWS are vital therefore introducing CIWA-Ar into Hungarian practice was an urgent task. Therefore, CIWA-Ar was translated and validated by our research group (Lázár et al., 2019).

After the course of alcohol withdrawal syndrome, different questionnaires can be applied during the stage of early rehabilitation and anxiety is also measurable during this period. Self-report questionnaires can examine the subjective evaluation of anxiety or contain anxiety indicators. Therefore, numerous self-report tools are available for measuring anxiety which are widely used in research or clinical practice (e.g. Beck Anxiety Inventory, Hamilton Anxiety Scale and Spielberger State-Trait Anxiety Inventory) (Beck et al., 1988; Hamilton, 1959; Spielberger et al., 1970). The Spielberger State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI) includes two parts: state anxiety and trait anxiety. While state anxiety represents the transitory emotion of anxiety, trait anxiety shows the disposition for experiencing anxiety. The first part measures the value of the current level of anxiety using 20 items (state anxiety) and the other measures the degree of trait anxiety which examines the disposition for experiencing anxiety (Spielberger et al., 1970). This tool was often used in research focusing on alcohol use disorder (Agabio et al., 2021; Durazzo & Meyerhoff, 2017).

Furthermore, other personality dimensions (e.g. neuroticism, low extraversion and conscientiousness) and coping strategies (e.g. high avoidance) are also essential in describing the association of AUD and anxiety (Ribadier & Varescon, 2019). Temperament and Character Inventory-Revised (TCI-R; Cloninger, 1999) is a suitable measurement tool which was developed by Cloninger who created one of the most commonly accepted framework to assess personality, the Psychobiological Model of Personality (Cloninger et al., 1993). This complex model combined psychological, neurobiological and psychopathological knowledge. For measuring this integrative framework, Cloninger developed the TCI-R, which consists of 240 items and examines 4 temperament (Harm Avoidance, Novelty Seeking, Persistence and Reward Dependence) and 3 character dimensions (Self-transcendence, Cooperativeness and Self-directedness). Temperament dimensions were described by the "biological core" of personality which are heritable character dimensions derived by environmental, social and

cultural learning. The use of TCI-R is a relevant measurement tool in clinical practice during rehabilitation which was often measured in research focusing on alcohol use disorder (Andó et al., 2014; Angres, 2010). For examining anxiety, Harm Avoidance (HA) temperament dimension is suitable. HA was considered as a heritable bias and it also has an important role in the inhibition or cessation of behaviour (Cloninger et al., 1993). The higher HA temperament factor is characterized by worry, fear of uncertainty and fatigue (Markett et al., 2016). These behaviors are associated with anxiety (Markett et al., 2016). Furthermore, HA is strongly correlated with high serotonergic activity (Cloninger, 1986) and it provides an ideal basis for exploring the neural background of anxiety (Markett et al., 2016). In the present thesis, HA was considered as anxiety indicator.

It is visible that there are several tools for evaluating anxiety but it is essential that the tool should be assigned to the clinical phase of the AUD and the patient's clinical condition.

IV. AIMS AND HYPOTHESIS

It has been well documented that the body responds immediately during an anxiety situation (American Psychiatric Association, 2013; Steimer, 2002). Thus, it is essential to explore the biological and psychological implications of anxiety. Anxiety shows comorbidity with numerous psychiatric disorders and it is prominent in case of the co-occurrence of addictive disorders (Boschloo et al., 2011; Grant et al., 2004). In clinical settings, anxiety could be observed in different critical stages among AUD patients: in alcohol withdrawal syndrome (AWS) which is one of the most common complication of AUD and during rehabilitation. Furthermore, AUD is highly comorbid with other behavior addictions especially the prevalence of gambling disorder in AUD is particularly high.

In the present thesis, four studies were conducted where the appearance of anxiety was examined and approached differently among normal population as well as in the complication and comorbidity of AUD during different clinical stages. Anxiety was observed in normal population using a physiological device and a self-report questionnaire during an anxietyprovoking situation which emphasized the comprehensive effect of anxiety. In case of the AUD, different measurement tools examining anxiety were assigned in each phase to take into account the patient's clinical condition. Therefore, self-report questionnaire and clinician-rated assessment tool were used. These different measurement methods allowed for a complex and comprehensive understanding of anxiety in both normal and clinical populations.

This thesis aimed to address three main aims. Our first aim was a comprehensive physiological investigation of anxiety in normal population, the second was to explore the

anxiety level during alcohol withdrawal syndrome, and the third major aim was to examine anxiety among treatment-seeking AUD patients and comorbid gambling involvement.

Aim 1: Regarding the previous literature, it is visible that the human body has a comprehensive response on the anxiety (American Psychiatric Association, 2013; Steimer, 2002). Therefore, our first aim was to investigate the autonomic response of acute anxiety in normal population comprehensively (Study 1). On this notion, the following hypothesis was formed:

H1: The body responds comprehensively and immediately to the anxiety situation that appears in the body's autonomic response. It was hypothesised that the myoelectric waves of the stomach, small intestine, large intestine as well as the heart frequency, body temperature show higher values and the galvanic skin response results in lower levels during anxiety-provoking situation among normal population (Study 1).

Aim 2: In the clinical sample, AUD was investigated in two steps. In the clinical phase of AUD, patients were examined during withdrawal syndrome and early recovery phase. It is essential to extend the examination of anxiety for these critical phases of AUD patients regarding anxiety since scientific literature demonstrated the co-occurrence of anxiety and AUD (Boschloo et al., 2011; Grant et al., 2004).

For monitoring the severity of AWS, the Clinical Institute Withdrawal Assessment of Alcohol, Revised (CIWA-Ar) is the most recommended tool based on the national guidelines and protocols. For this purpose, the course of AWS was evaluated by a meta-analysis with aggregated CIWA-Ar total scores. Hence, the change of the CIWA-Ar scores was examined therefore the ecological validity of the tool was also tested (Study 2). Since CIWA-Ar was not a standardized measurement tool in Hungary therefore it has been validated by our research group. This provides the possibility for objectifying the symptoms of AWS. Consequently, the symptoms of AWS were examined focusing on the anxiety based on a symptomatic examination (Study 3). On this notion, the following hypotheses were formed:

H2: CIWA-Ar is an ecological valid tool and the course of alcohol withdrawal syndrome can be followed using CIWA-Ar. It was hypothesized that the CIWA-Ar total score results in decreasing values (Study 2). H3: Anxiety follows the course of AWS based on the CIWA-Ar scores therefore anxiety is continuously decreasing during alcohol withdrawal (Study 3).

H4: Anxiety is one of the most substantial symptom in the acute phase of AUD during alcohol withdrawal syndrome (Study 3).

Aim 3: In the early recovery phase, elevated anxiety may maintain during abstinence even without AWS symptoms. The examination of anxiety is essential since anxiety can be a risk factor for subsequent relapse among AUD patients (Kushner et al., 2005). Therefore, it is also important to examine the emergence of anxiety during rehabilitation phase of AUD patients. Furthermore, patients with comorbid AUD and anxiety disorders have an increased risk for developing gambling disorders. The personality structure of the patients becomes measurable in this phase therefore this period is suitable for examining anxiety as a temperament variable. Thus, the personality structure was examined during rehabilitation using questionnaire. At this treatment stage, we used one of the most commonly utilized self-report personality questionnaire, the Temperament and Character Inventory-Revised (TCI-R; Cloninger, 1999) where Harm Avoidance temperament scale was considered as anxiety indicator.

Although one of the most common comorbid behavioral addiction in AUD is gambling disorder, to our best knowledge, literature specifically comparing AUD patients with and without GD symptoms based on personality structure is scarce. For this purpose, the anxiety of AUD patients with and without GD involvement was examined comparing to a normative sample. Then, these two AUD groups were compared and the anxiety as temperament variable was also explored. On this notion, the following hypotheses were formed:

H5: The Harm Avoidance temperament factor is elevated among AUD patients and AUD patients comorbid with GD symptoms, compared to the normative sample (Study 4).H6: Harm Avoidance temperament factor shows even higher values in AUD patients comorbid with GD symptoms (Study 4).

V. METHODS AND MATERIALS

1. STUDY 1: Measuring state anxiety among normal population

1.1. Participants and procedure

In Study 1, the autonomic effects of the stress-induced anxiety were examined comprehensively on rat and human sample in a translational framework. However, in the present thesis only the human results were discussed. This investigation was carried out in the Department of Psychiatry, University of Szeged. It was conducted in air-conditioned examination rooms, the temperature was set to 24 °C. Twenty-one healthy volunteers were recruited between 21 and 26 years. Convenience sampling was used during the enrolment and the participants did not receive any remuneration for the study. Written informed consent form was obtained. The study lasted approximately 90 minutes per individual.

Body mass index (BMI) below 18 or above 30, major psychiatric disorders, current medication (except contraceptives), current drug and/or alcohol consumption and scores greater than two standard deviations on Global Severity Index measured by Symptom Checklist Revised (SCL-R-90), chronic diseases were considered as exclusion criteria. The final sample size was 16 because 5 participants were excluded regarding the exclusion criteria (measurement error, outlier on GSI, pharmacotherapy and BMI index).

Before starting the investigations, participants refrained from eating 2 hours for ensuring the standardization of the initial GI parameters. Water was provided during the study if it was necessary. After the baseline questionnaires, weight, height and abdominal circumference were gathered. Then, SMEMG/HR/BT/GSR Holter device measuring anxiety was applied which recorded the physiological parameters real-time and simultaneously. Following the application of the SMEMG/HR/BT/GSR Holter device, the Trier Social Stress Test (TSST) protocol started (Kirschbaum et al., 1989). During TSST, a moderate acute social stress was induced in laboratory conditions. The TSST protocol began at 3 p.m. considering the circadian rhythm of the subjects (Hu et al., 2018; Sharma et al., 2020). The protocol consisted of three phases: resting phase, stress induction and recovery phase. Every phase lasted 20 minutes. Following the resting phase, a three-member selection committee was introduced as behavioural analysts and it was announced that the selection committee would interpret the nonverbal behaviour of the participants and the performance would be recorded by a video camera to conduct further analysis. Then the subject had to prepare alone for 10 minutes (anticipatory stress phase) for a 5-minute job interview simulation in front of the selection committee. During the job interview, the participants had to make an introduction to the selection committee and convince them that the participant was the right choice for a dream job (first stress situation). Afterwards, the participant had to perform an arithmetic task for 5 minutes and had to count loudly from 1022 by 13 as fast and as accurately as possible (second stress situation). The TSST protocol ended with the recovery phase and the participant was informed that the video camera was not turned on during the study and the speech and math performances were not recorded (Kirschbaum et al., 1989) (Figure 1).



Holter system measurement

Figure 1: The Trier Social Stress Test protocol

Abbreviations: AS = Anticipatory Stress phase (10 min speech preparation), S = Speech task (5 min), M = Arithmetic task (5 min), $\times =$ measuring state anxiety with Spielberger State Anxiety Inventory

The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and the protocol was approved by the Human Investigation Review Board, University of Szeged (ethical approval number: 134/2017).

1.2. Measures SMEMG/HR/BT/GSR Holter device measuring anxiety

The measurement procedure with the Holter device is painless and completely harmless. On the abdominal surface, the smooth muscle electromyographic (SMEMG), electrocardiographic (ECG) and body temperature changes (BT) of the participants were recorded non-invasively and simultaneously. The signals were detected by a thermometer combined electrode pair fixed on the abdominal dermal surface of the participants. The waves detected through the electrodes were amplified by the transducer analogue amplifiers and digitized by appropriate A/D conversion. Before positioning the combined electrodes, abdominal circumference was measured. As a standard, 10% of the abdominal circumference was considered as the measurement distance from the baseline (navel). A pea-sized amount of EEG conductive paste was positioned to each electrode using a medical spatula. Subsequently, the electrodes were applied in a triangle shape on the abdominal wall, the highest vertex of the triangle was the electrode measuring BT. The Holter system was placed in a sealable pouch fixed to a belt and the device recorded the biological parameters during the stress protocol. Furthermore, galvanic skin response (GSR) was recorded non-invasively which reflected the sweat gland activity as an autonomic nerve response. GSR measurement was carried out with 10-µm gold-plated silver electrodes fixed with Velcro on the non-dominant index and middle fingers of the subjects. Conductive paste was used on the skin surface before positioning the electrodes (Figure 2).



Figure 2: A schematic figure of the Holter system. The figure represents the abdominal and galvanic skin response (GSR) electrodes, which were connected to the Holter device with Bluetooth. Created with Biorender.com.

Spielberger State Anxiety Inventory (STAI)

For measuring state anxiety, Spielberger State Anxiety Inventory (STAI; Sipos et al., 1994; Spielberger et al., 1983) was used. This self-report questionnaire consists 20 items and participants have to decide to agree with the statement on a 1-4 Likert-scale. STAI was applied at three time points in TSST protocol therefore STAI was applied after the resting phase, during stress induction and after the recovery phase.

Symptom Checklist Revised (SCL-R-90)

The questionnaire contains 90 items and the participants fill the questionnaire based on how they detected their psychological symptoms in the past week. Based on the questionnaire, the Global Severity Index (GSI) was calculated and high scores on GSI indicate the current level of distress of the participants (Derogatis, 1977; Unoka et al., 2004).

1.3. Statistical analysis

Evaluation of the myoelectric signals of the GI tract, HR, BT and GSR parameters were performed by Easy Chart software (MDE GmbH, Walldorf, Germany). Regarding the GI tract, a digital cutter was applied to extract the motion artefacts whose edge values were given by motion-free artefacts. Therefore, high-amplitude values resulting from motion did not distort the GI signals (Szűcs et al., 2018). Fast Fourier transformation (FFT) was used to evaluate the recorded values of the GI parameters and it required at least a 20-minute measurement period in each phase. Furthermore, HR and GSR values were gathered in every 5 minutes during the three phases. The values of each stage were aggregated so both HR and GSR could be described by a single mean value during the three phases. To examine the changes in BT, stress induction 0 min (t₀) was compared to stress induction 20 minutes (t₂₀). In addition, changes also were contrasted between the stress induction and the recovery phase regarding GI tract, HR and BT. In case of BT, stress induction 20 minutes (t₀) was compared to the subsequent 20 minutes of the recovery phase (t₂₀). The results were considered statistically significant if p < 0.05.

The magnitude and the changes of the electrical activity of the GI parameters were defined by power spectrum density (PsD_{max}), HR was described by bpm (beats per minute) and BT was characterized by °C. Furthermore, GSR was defined by kOhm.

The results were analysed by IBM SPSS Statistics 24 software (IBM Corp, 2016). State anxiety was evaluated by repeated-measures ANOVA during the TSST protocol. Values greater than one standard deviation in the physiological parameters were considered as outliers and were therefore excluded from the analysis. Wilcoxon signed-rank tests were analysed in terms of the biological parameters (stomach, colon, small intestine, HR, BT and GSR) between the resting phase and stress induction. Furthermore, changes between stress induction and the recovery phase were calculated by further Wilcoxon signed-rank tests regarding the physiological variables (stomach, large intestine, small intestine, HR and BT).

2. STUDY 2: Examining the course of alcohol withdrawal syndrome and the ecological validity of CIWA-Ar

2.1. Search strategy and study selection

In Study 2, the course of alcohol withdrawal syndrome was examined with the aggregated CIWA-Ar total scores using meta-analysis that allowed the analysis of the ecological validity of the measure. This systematic review-based meta-analysis were presented in accordance with the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) (Moher et al., 2009) statement, and its reporting was in accordance with the guidelines of meta-analyses in epidemiology described by Stroup and his colleagues (Stroup et al., 2000). Four scientific databases (PubMed, ScienceDirect, Web of Science and Cochrane Registry) were systematically searched by three authors in our research group to determine studies published before January 31, 2020, which documented the severity of AWS with the

CIWA-Ar in patients treated with AWS. The full-text search was conducted without filtering, "ciwa" was used as the key search term.

A total of 1054 articles were identified for potential inclusion in the quantitative metaanalysis. The previously identified scientific articles were listed for critical revision of a professional researcher team expert in the methodology of meta-analyses, the course and pharmacotherapy of AWS and in clinical psychometrics.

During applying the exclusion criteria, duplicates (N = 209) and grey literature (e.g. correspondence, editorial letters, conference abstracts and RCT registrations) (N = 176) were excluded. Non-English papers (N = 58) and publications not connected to AWS (N = 62) were also selected out. Since the comorbid somatic state may have an impact on the course and treatment of AWS, investigations of specific populations were removed (N = 5). These were the following: Spies et al. (1995, 1998) and Kong et al. (2017) have investigated alcohol dependent patients with carcinoma, Illig et al. (2001) have explored the unexpected emergence of AWS following aortic surgery and Talbot (2011) has examined patients developing Wernicke's disease. Articles (N= 70) using different versions of the CIWA-Ar (CIWA-Benzodiazepine, CIWA-A or other modified versions) were also removed. Non-empirical studies (e.g. reviews, table of contents, case reports, appendixes, indexes, author indexes, abbreviations, protocols and guidelines etc.) were also excluded (N = 219). Papers not monitoring the course of AWS (e.g. only one assessment point was reported since the CIWA-Ar was used as a screening test) (N = 71) were selected out and articles that lacked the use of the CIWA-Ar total scores (N = 92) were also removed. Therefore, when we found a publication that was potentially eligible for inclusion for our study but did not include the necessary means and standard deviations, we tried to contact the corresponding author two times over two months to ask them to provide these missing data. Additionally, 12 papers fell out due to noneligibility based on medication.

Empirical publications were included in case they reported sample size, the means and standard deviations of the CIWA-Ar in patients with clinical diagnosis of AWS and used evidence-based treatments (benzodiazepine [BZD] and non-benzodiazepine [nBZD]). Finally, reference lists of studies identified were hand-searched for possible inclusion. After applying all the exclusion criteria aforementioned, 11 studies met the previously set criteria for inclusion in the quantitative meta-analysis and two subgroups were identified based on pharmacotherapy (Figure 3).



Figure 1: The PRISMA flow diagram

2.2. Statistical analysis

All analyses were made with using the Comprehensive Meta-Analysis Software 3.0 (*Comprehensive Meta-Analysis Software (CMA)*, 2020). Analyses were assessed using a random-effects model. We also conducted existence of publication bias, calculation of effect sizes and moderator analysis. The means and standard deviations of the CIWA-Ar total scores monitoring the course of AWS were gathered for the calculations. The demographic (gender and age) and alcohol-specific data (alcohol consumption in grams, duration of alcohol consumption and alcohol dependence) were also collected. However, these data were

documented differently in the papers and many were lacking therefore these collected data could not be analysed as moderator variables in the final analysis.

The unit of data analysis was the comparison of the cumulative mean CIWA-Ar scores of two phases of the course of AWS treatment. The means and standard deviations of the first 9 days of AWS treatment were gathered from each study and were separated into two measurement intervals which reflects the first and last phase of AWS. The first phase of AWS was day 1-3, the last phase of AWS was day 4-9 and the means of these days were averaged. If there were missing daily data, then averaging was done without them. In the study of Johnston et al. (1991), only 1, 2, 7 days were documented therefore for the first phase, we calculated the means and standard deviations of day 1 and 2, and the second phase was the seventh day. Similarly, in the study of Addolorato et al. (1999), the means and standard deviations of the CIWA-Ar total scores of day 1, 2 and 3 were calculated for the first phase and day 4 and 5 were calculated for the second phase. Sengul et al. (2009) documented only data of day 1, 4 and 7 of the CIWA-Ar scores therefore the day 1 mean and standard deviation were the unit of analysis of the first phase and the means and standard deviations of CIWA-Ar scores of day 4 and 7 were averaged for the second phase. In case of some studies reporting only the CIWA-Ar total score of day 1 and 7, only the CIWA-Ar total score of the first day was used for the first phase and the CIWA-Ar total score of the 7th day was used for the second phase (Cavus et al., 2012; Heberlein et al., 2010, 2014, 2015, 2017; Sönmez et al., 2016). Furthermore, three studies (Addolorato et al., 1999; Chourishi et al., 2010; Girish et al., 2016) yielded two comparison pairs for analysis therefore a total of 10 comparison pairs were contrasted.

Publication bias was determined several methods. Firstly, it was estimated based on visual/graphic examination of the funnel plots as well as Egger's regression (Egger et al., 1997) and Begg and Mazumdar's rank correlation test (Begg & Mazumdar, 1994) were calculated to determine publication bias. If the *p*-value was < 0.05 in the Begg and Mazumdar test and the *p*-value was < 0.1 in the Egger's test, significant asymmetry was detected. In addition, the study was considered an outlier (Shiffler, 1988) if the standardized residual of a study was greater than 3.29. Consequently, two studies (Chourishi et al., 2010; Girish et al., 2016) were removed based on the aforementioned standardized residuals. Therefore, the previously identified 9 studies yielded 10 comparison pairs for the present meta-analysis (Pribék et al., 2020).

Heterogeneity was evaluated with the Q-test and I^2 test to explore the consistence of the results of the studies. In the sample, a statistically significant, considerable heterogeneity was considered with a significant *p*-value in the Q-test and value over 75 in the I^2 test.

3. STUDY 3: Exploring the potential role of anxiety in the course of alcohol withdrawal syndrome3.1. Participants and procedure

In the Study 3, the potential key role of anxiety was examined in the course of AWS which is one of the most common complication of AUD therefore symptomatic analysis of AWS were performed. The study was carried out at the Department of Psychiatry, University of Szeged. Thirty patients admitted with alcohol withdrawal syndrome were included between 18 and 65 years from the inpatient addictology unit. Written informed consent was obtained from each participant.

During the baseline assessment, demographic (gender, age) and alcohol consumptionrelated (number of addiction treatments and the quantity of the last beer, wine and spirit intake) questions were gathered. Alcohol withdrawal syndrome was assessed by Clinical Institute Withdrawal Assessment of Alcohol, Revised (CIWA-Ar) which was translated and validated by our research team. The validation process was detailed in the study of Lázár et al. (2019). CIWA-Ar was applied 6 times therefore the tool was administered every 2 days for 10 days in a structured way via interviews and observations conducted by a trained clinician.

The study was ethically approved by the Human Investigation Review Board, University of Szeged (28/2018, SZTE).

3.2. Measures

Clinical Institute Withdrawal Assessment of Alcohol, Revised (CIWA-Ar)

Clinical Institute Withdrawal Assessment of Alcohol, Revised (CIWA-Ar) measures the severity and the symptoms of AWS. The scale was assessed based on a clinician-rated scoring on a Likert-scale and the scores of 0–8, 9–15 and 16 or more indicate mild, moderate and severe withdrawal syndrome. The 10-item tool contains the symptoms of AWS such as nausea and vomiting, tremor, sweating, auditory, visual and tactile disturbances, headache, orientation, agitation and anxiety. The maximum score is 67, where the higher score shows more severe AWS . Considering the Anxiety item, anxiety was evaluated by a 7-point Likert scale. Patients with 0 score were described without anxiety, 1 score indicate a mildly anxious state, 4 scores suggest moderately anxious, 7 scores imply acute panic states (Sullivan et al., 1989). In this study, the Hungarian validated version was used which was translated and validated by our research group (Lázár et al., 2019).

3.3. Statistical analysis

The potential role of anxiety was examined based on symptomatic analysis. Firstly, the means and standard deviations of CIWA-Ar item scores were evaluated focusing on the Anxiety item. Then, the changes of the items were further analysed with Friedman's ANOVA during the 6 measurements. Furthermore, psychometric measurements were tested focusing on the Anxiety item therefore the Cronbach alpha values were calculated in case of the total CIWA-Ar scores and after deleting the Anxiety item. In addition, item-total correlations were also conducted in case of the first three measurements. If the value of Cronbach Alpha is above 0.7, the questionnaire is reliable in the sample (Tavakol & Dennick, 2011).

4. STUDY 4: Anxiety in alcohol use disorder and comorbid gambling involvement

4.1. Participants and procedure

In the Study 4, the comorbidity of AUD and gambling involvement was examined, with a specific focus on anxiety as temperament variable. As part of a comprehensive research project, patients receiving inpatient treatment for addictive disorders were assessed for eligibility at the Department of Psychiatry, University of Szeged. A total of 104 patients were enrolled in the study. Patient were enrolled who met the criteria for DSM-5 diagnosis of AUD (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). Patients were included if their general intellectual level was above intellectual disability (IQ 70+) measured with the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale, 4th Edition (Wechsler, 2008). Neurological diseases, any psychosis spectrum disorders, history of progressive neurodegenerative disorders or reported acute severe intoxication were exclusion criteria. For a detailed description of inclusion criteria and patient enrolment, see Kovács et al. (2020). Written informed consent was obtained from each participant.

Six patients were excluded from the study. In this sense, one patient was excluded from the sample due to untimely termination of treatment, another patient was selected out due to the unsuccessful completion of the Temperament and Character Inventory, Revised (TCI-R; Cloninger, 1999; Rózsa et al., 2004, 2005) and four patients were excluded due to scoring low on the validity scale of the TCI-R. Based on the aforementioned exclusions, the final sample size was 98. According to the South Oaks Gambling Scale scores (SOGS; Gyollai et al., 2013; Lesieur & Blume, 1987), gambling disorder (GD) symptom severity proved to be the dominant clustering variable. Based on the clusters, two groups were formed: the AUD group (n = 68) included patients without GD symptoms (scoring 0 on the SOGS), and the AUD + GD group (n = 30) comprising AUD patients with comorbid GD symptoms (scoring 1 or above on the SOGS).

The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and was approved by the Human Investigation Review Board, University of Szeged (ethical approval number: 49/B-53/2016KK).

4.2. Measures

Addiction-related and demographic variables and intelligence

Addiction Severity Index (ASI) was assessed for demographic (age, gender and education) and addiction-related information (lifetime alcohol intake in years and age onset of regular alcohol consumption). It is a partially structured interview which evaluated 7 major psychiatric topics including major problematic areas covering topics of alcohol, drugs, general medical history, employment status, social and familial situation, legal issues and previous psychiatric history, focusing on the details of lifetime and recent addictive problems (McLellan et al., 1980; Rácz et al., 2005).

Furthermore, Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT) was also used to measure drinking behaviour, the level of alcohol intake and the existence of problems connected to excessive alcohol consumption (Allen et al., 1997; Gerevich et al., 2006).

Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale, 4th Edition (WAIS-IV) was assessed the patient's cognitive ability and intelligence. It evaluated four domains including Processing Speed, Working Memory, Perceptual Reasoning and Verbal Comprehension (Rózsa & Kő, 2008; Wechsler, 2008). In the Study 4, the WAIS-IV cumulative score generated from the values of the four subdomains was used.

South Oaks Gambling Scale (SOGS)

South Oaks Gambling Scale (SOGS) was assessed to measure pathological gambling severity found in the DSM-3 (Gyollai et al., 2013; Lesieur & Blume, 1987). Scores between 1 and 4 suggest problematic gambling, however, patients with 1 or 2 points on the SOGS are characterized with minimal or few gambling problems (Gyollai et al., 2013). Schaffer and Hall (1996, 2001, 2002) have suggested that participants with any level of gambling symptoms below the diagnostic cut-off point (SOGS scores of 1–4) should belong to the "at risk" or "problematic" gambling group, while Weinstock, Ledgerwood, and Petry (2007) recommended that SOGS \geq 1 indicate symptomatic gamblers. SOGS scores of 5+ show probable pathological gambling. SOGS was administered via interview conducted by a trained clinician to avoid the identification of false positive results on the tool (i.e. scoring above 0 on the SOGS when the underlying condition of clinical and/or subclinical GD is absent).

Temperament and Character Inventory-Revised (TCI-R)

Personality dimensions were measured by Temperament and Character Inventory-Revised (TCI-R) which distinguishes 4 temperament (Persistence [PS], Reward Dependence [RD], Harm Avoidance [HA] and Novelty Seeking [NS]), and 3 character (Self-transcendence [ST], Cooperativeness [CO] and Self-directedness [SD]) factors (Cloninger, 1999; Rózsa et al., 2004, 2005). Harm Avoidance temperament factor was considered as anxiety indicator.

4.3. Statistical analysis

The results were analysed by IBM SPSS Statistics 24 software (IBM Corp, 2016). To determine clusters of the total sample, cluster analysis of variables evaluating addiction severity and personality was conducted. Clusters of gambling symptom severity and personality dimensions were identified using Two-Step Clustering algorithm, with the use of hierarchical clustering design. The Bayesian information criterion (BIC) was performed to single out the most applicable cluster solution, where smaller values of the BIC indicate the better model. Based on the SOGS scores, GD symptom severity proved to be the dominant clustering variable therefore two groups were formed according to the clusters: the AUD group incorporating patients without GD symptoms (scoring 0 on the SOGS), and the AUD+GD group comprising AUD patients with comorbid GD symptoms (scoring 1 or above on the SOGS).

Independent-samples t-tests were performed for exploring group differences of continuous variables and Chi-square tests were utilized for comparing categorical demographic data.

TCI-R T-scores of patients were analysed according to the age groups and gender of the Hungarian normative scores (Rózsa et al., 2004, 2005). Firstly, one-sample t-tests were used to contrast the T-scores of the Hungarian normative sample (T-Score: 50, SD = 10) and the AUD and AUD+GD groups. Then, one-way analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) was conducted to compare the T-scores of the AUD and AUD+GD groups with the AUDIT score as a covariate. Finally, Hedge's g was analysed for determining the effect sizes of the groups.

VI. RESULTS

1. STUDY 1: Measuring state anxiety among normal population

In the Study 1, 7 men and 9 women participated (N = 16) and the mean age of the subjects was 23.56 years (SD = 1.315). In addition, 6 participants (37.5%) completed secondary and 10 subjects (62.5%) had higher education.

Repeated-measures ANOVA was used to examine the changes in scores between the resting phase and stress induction in the STAI questionnaires. Based on the Mauchly's sphericity, sphericity is not satisfied ($\chi 2(2) = 6.456$, p = 0.04) and the degrees of freedom of the ANOVA were corrected by the Greenhouse-Geisser method ($\varepsilon = 0.73$). The means of the three phases differed significantly (F(1.46, 21.91) = 18.18; p < 0.001). The Bonferroni post hoc analysis showed that the STAI total score evaluated after the stress induction was significantly higher than the total STAI total score measured after the resting phase (p < 0.001) and the recovery phase (p < 0.001) (Figure 4A).

The SMEMG signals were transformed to spectra by FFT analysis to emphasize the different PsD_{max} values for the segments of the GI tract. The SMEMG, HR, BT and GSR measurements were performed between the resting phase and stress induction. The values of the PsD_{max} in the stomach were higher during the stress induction than in the resting phase (Z = -1.977; p = 0.048). However, no significant difference was showed regarding the myoelectric waves of the large intestine during stress induction (Z = -0.659; p = 0.51). The myoelectric waves of the small intestine showed higher values during stress phase than in the resting phase (Z = -2.045; p = 0.041). Consistence with the GI tract, HR also showed higher during the stress induction compared to the resting phase (Z = -3.464; p < 0.001). Similarly, the BT of the participants was also significantly higher during stress induction compared to the resting phase (Z = -2.628; p = 0.009). In addition, GSR decreased by 65% during the TSST (Z = 2.919; p = 0.004). These results demonstrated that the STAI total scores changed with the physiological variables (stomach, small intestine, HR, BT and GSR) simultaneously except for the large intestine (Figure 4BCDE).



Figure 2: Changes in total scores of STAI (A) during the TSST protocol. The myoelectric waves of the gastrointestinal tract (B), heart rate (C), body temperature (D) and galvanic skin response (E) during the resting phase and stress induction of TSST protocol. Columns represent mean, error bars represent standard error of mean (SEM). **Abbreviations**: bpm = beats per minute; PsDmax = Power spectrum density maximum value of the Fast Fourier Transformation (Unit: μ V2); TSST = Trier Social Stress Test; (#: p < 0.05; **, ##: p < 0.01; ###;***: p < 0.001)

Following the stress induction, recording the examined parameters were continued in the second resting phase therefore the potential changes in the recovery phase were also examined. Gastric PsD_{max} values decreased significantly in the recovery phase (Z = -2.103; p = 0.035). No significant differences were detected in the recovery phase in terms of the myoelectric waves of the large intestine (Z = -0.568; p = 0.570). Concerning the PsD_{max} values of the small intestine, a significant decrease was showed between the stress induction and the recovery phase (Z = -2.271; p = 0.023). HR significantly decreased in the recovery phase (Z = -2.845; p = 0.004). In regard to BT, an increase in the level of tendency was observed in the recovery phase (Z = -1.962; p = 0.050).

2. STUDY 2: Examining the course of alcohol withdrawal syndrome and the ecological validity of CIWA-Ar

2.1. Publication bias and heterogeneity

Symmetric funnel plots were examined in the BZD (Figure 5) and nBZD subgroups (Figure 6) based on the results of the visual/graphic examination. Similarly, the Egger's test for intercept also indicated symmetry (Intercept = -4.774, p = 0.177). Publication bias was not explored neither in the BZD group (Kendall's tau = -0.5, p = 0.221) nor in the nBZD (Kendall's tau = -0.5, p = 0.221) group according to the Begg and Mazumdar tests. These results indicate that no evidence of publication was detected in the present meta-analysis.



Figure 5: Funnel plot of standard error by standardized mean differences in the benzodiazepine (BZD) group



Figure 6: Funnel plot of standard error by standardized mean differences in the non-benzodiazepine (nBZD) group

Due to the methodological differences in the studies, a significant heterogeneity was expected therefore a random effects model was conducted to analyse the summary effect estimates. In the sample, significant heterogeneity was found ($Q_w(9) = 32.946$, p < 0.001). The I² test indicated a moderate level of heterogeneity in the overall sample (I² = 72.68).

2.2. Analysis of the aggregated CIWA-Ar total scores in the meta-analysis

Nine studies met the inclusion criteria and yielded 10 comparison pairs. A total of 423 patients were examined in this analysis. Based on the random effects model, a significant decrease between the two measurement intervals was showed which meant a decrease of the CIWA-Ar scores during the course of AWS (d = -0.945; CI: $-1.140 < \delta < -0.750$; p < 0.001) (Figure 7).



Figure 7: Forest plot of standardized difference in means for the overall sample

For exploring the role of the proportion of males and age in the samples, moderator analysis was conducted; data regarding the proportion of males were available for 10 comparison pairs and 9 reported ages. Based on the model, no significant effect was detected, therefore the proportion of males (coefficient: 0.02; p = 0.48) and the age (coefficient: 0.10; p = 0.216) did not have any moderating effect concerning the change of the total CIWA-Ar score.

3. STUDY 3: Exploring the potential role of anxiety in the course of alcohol withdrawal syndrome

In the Study 3, 24 male and 6 women patients were participated (N = 30) and the mean age of the enrolled participants was 45.7 years (SD = 9.5).

Considering the course of the AWS, the Anxiety item decreased significantly during the six measurements based on the Friedman's ANOVA calculations (p < 0.001). The further 9 items were also decreased significantly during the six measurements (p < 0.001) except for the Orientation item (p = 0.152). According to the means and standard deviations of the six measurements, anxiety appeared as a central symptom in alcohol withdrawal syndrome. In this sense, Anxiety showed the second highest mean value until day 6th, then had an average score approximately equal to Tremor on day 8th, and then, although low on day 10 but it had the highest mean of symptoms (Figure 8). Consequently, the decrease in the score of Anxiety item was slow and the symptom of anxiety was more stable in the course of AWS.



Figure 8: The mean scores of the CIWA-Ar items during the 6 measurements (A). Red represents the Anxiety item. **Abbreviations**: CIWA-Ar: Clinical Institute Withdrawal Assessment of Alcohol, Revised

The validation process of CIWA-Ar through reliability and validity indicators was detailed in the study by Lázár et al. (2019) which demonstrated that CIWA-Ar is a valid and reliable tool specifically at the beginning of the withdrawal phase, during the first three measurements. Since the CIWA-Ar was more reliable and valid in the first phase of AWS therefore only these measurements were evaluated in the following psychometric analysis of the Anxiety item. The item-total correlation analysis showed that Anxiety item had a strong correlation coefficient especially during the first measurement (r = 0.793). According to the Cronbach's alpha values, the internal consistency was decreased if the Anxiety item was

deleted. In case of the first measurement time, the Cronbach alpha was lowered from 0.732 to 0.644. These decrease was further observed regarding the second and third measurements, respectively (Table 2). Based on these results, it can be concluded that anxiety plays a decisive role in the alcohol withdrawal syndrome and without the Anxiety item, the reliability of the tool decreases.

Table 2: Item-total correlation values of the	Anxiety item and Cronbach Alpha values after item
deletion during the first 3 measurements	

Measurements	Item-total correlation of the Anxiety item of CIWA-Ar	Cronbach Alpha of the CIWA-Ar if Anxiety item was deleted	Cronbach Alpha of the CIWA-Ar
1.	0.793	0.644	0.732
2.	0.523	0.705	0.745
3.	0.502	0.655	0.704

Abbreviations: CIWA-Ar: Clinical Institute Withdrawal Assessment of Alcohol, Revised

4. STUDY 4: Anxiety in alcohol use disorder and comorbid gambling involvement

4.1. Grouping and personality profiles according to cluster analysis of the sample

In the Study 4, 74 men and 24 women patients participated (N = 98). Firstly, we conducted a two-step analysis with all temperament and character variables measured with the TCI-R, severity of alcohol misuse assessed by the AUDIT and gambling symptom severity assessed with the SOGS as predictor variables. Based on the results, two clusters were identified where gambling symptom severity proved to be the most important predictor. Silhouette measure of cohesion and separation was fair (si = 0.3). Therefore, based on the results of the cluster analysis, two groups (AUD and AUD+GD) were formed. According to the overall median scores of TCI-R dimensions, the AUD group showed higher scores of CO, RD, PS and SD, and lower scores of NS and HA compared to the AUD+GD group.

4.2. Group differences and gambling prevalence in the sample

The AUD and AUD+GD group differed only in the severity of alcohol consumption assessed with the AUDIT. The AUD+GD group scored significantly higher on the AUDIT total scores (Table 3). In the AUD+GD group, the prevalence of patients with problematic gambling

symptoms was 53.33% (n = 16), while the prevalence of patients with probable GD was 46.67% (n = 14).

	AUD (n = 68)	AUD+GD $(n = 30)$	
	45 15 (0 (0)	46 60 (11 52)	t(96) = -0.648,
Age (SD)	45.15 (9.00)	40.00 (11.55)	$p = 0.615^{b}$
Sex (Male%)	72.1%	83.3%	$X^2(2) = 0.974,$
			$p = 0.244)^{a}$
Education%			$X^2(2) = 1.431,$
(primary/secondary/higher)	5.9%//0.6%/23.5%	5.9%/70.6%/23.5% 10.00%/73.3%/16.7%	$p = 0.232)^{a}$
Start of alcohol misuse in	25.28 (9.49)	22.70(11.72)	t(96) = 1.151, p
years (SD)		ears (SD) 25.28 (9.49) 22.70 (11.72)	22.70 (11.72)
Lifetime alcohol		21 40 (11 7 0	t(96) = -1.928,
consumption in years (SD)	16.96 (9.86)	21.40 (11.74)	p=0.057 ^b
SOGS Total (SD)	0 (0)	4.83 (3.54)	
	VAIS-IV Total IQ (SD) 92.57 (14.99) 90.33 (16.28)	00 22 (16 20)	t(96) = 0.664, p
WAIS-IV Total IQ (SD)		SD) 92.37 (14.99) 90.33 (10.28)	92.37 (14.99) 90.33 (10.28)
AUDIT Total (SD)	23.51 (7.43)	28.03 (6.36)	t(96) = -2.893,
			p = 0.005 b

Table 3: Sample characteristics of study groups

Abbreviations: AUD: alcohol use disorder patient group, AUD+GD: alcohol use disorder patient group with gambling disorder symptoms; SOGS Total: South Oaks Gambling Scale total score; WAIS-IV Total IQ: Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale IV total score; AUDIT Total: Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test cumulative score. ^aChi-square test, ^bIndependent sample t-test

4.3. Comparison of normative sample scores and patient group differences in TCI-R dimensions

Regarding anxiety which was indicated by the HA temperament factor, the AUD (t = 3.073, p = 0.003, Hedges' g = 0.384) and the AUD+GD group (t = 4.319, p < 0.001, Hedges' g = 0.756) scored higher on HA than the Hungarian normative sample scores (T-score for each dimension is 50, SD = 10). Furthermore, the AUD group showed significantly higher NS (t = 2.458, p = 0.018, Hedges' g = 0.294) and lower SD (t = -5.463, p < 0.001, Hedges' g = -0.663) scores than the Hungarian normative sample scores, while the AUD+GD group scored higher on NS (t = 4.160, p < 0.001, Hedges' g = 0.553) and resulted in significantly lower scores of PS (t = -2.205, p = 0.036, Hedges' g = -0.433), CO (t = -2.896, p = 0.007, Hedges' g = -0.687)

and SD (t = -4.988, p < 0.001, Hedges' g = 0.928) than the T-scores of the Hungarian normative sample.

In case of group comparisons of the AUD and AUD+GD groups, controlled for the AUDIT scores, there was significant difference between the anxiety indicator HA variable (F(82, 14) = 6.683, p < 0.001, Hedges' g = 0.409), and significant difference on the level of tendency between RD (F(70,26) = 1.712, p = 0.064, Hedges' g = 0.411) between group scores of AUD and AUD+GD.



Figure 3: TCI-R dimensions in AUD and AUD+GD group compared to normative sample T-score. */** indicate difference from normative sample T-scores, brackets with significance indicate significant difference between patient groups. **Abbreviations**: AUD: alcohol use disorder patients without gambling symptoms; AUD+GD: alcohol use disorder patients with gambling symptoms; TCI-R NS: Temperament and Character Inventory Novelty Seeking subscale T-scores; TCI-R HA: Temperament and Character Inventory Harm Avoidance subscale T-scores; TCI-R RD: Temperament and Character Inventory Reward Dependence subscale T-scores; TCI-R PS: Temperament and Character Inventory Persistence subscale T-scores; TCI-R SD: Temperament and Character Inventory Self-directedness subscale T-scores; TCI-R ST: Temperament and Character Inventory Self-transcendence subscale T-scores; dashed line: Hungarian normative sample T-scores.

VII. DISCUSSION

Alcohol use disorder and anxiety (AUD) have a strong relationship based on the scientific literature (Boschloo et al., 2011; Grant et al., 2004; Vorspan et al., 2015). The course of AUD has different stages which results in a heterogenous physiological and psychological patterns. Different critical treatment points were examined in AUD patients: in alcohol withdrawal syndrome (AWS) which causes an acute physiologically demanding state and during rehabilitation without AWS symptoms where the patient's condition is more stable. Our findings suggested that the comorbid conditions and the anxiety symptoms were associated regarding the clinical course of AUD.

In the present thesis, four studies were conducted where the appearance of anxiety was examined comprehensively and defined differently among normal population as well as in the complication and comorbidity of AUD during different treatment points. Several measurement tools examining anxiety were assigned in each phase due to the different clinical characteristics of the stages. In the Study 1, the acute autonomic and comprehensive effects of anxiety were demonstrated in normal population which resulted in a more physiologically elevated condition during anxiety-provoking situation. In clinical sample, AUD was investigated in different clinical stages regarding anxiety therefore alcohol withdrawal syndrome and early recovery phase were examined, respectively. It was reported that the course of alcohol withdrawal syndrome can be followed appropriately (Study 2) and the symptoms of AWS became measurable by the Clinical Institute Withdrawal Assessment of Alcohol, Revised (CIWA-Ar) which was validated by our research group. It was also demonstrated that anxiety appeared substantially in the whole clinical process of AUD which was examined by the present studies: it occurred in the acute phase (AWS) as a central symptom (Study 3) and it was also markedly observed in the patient's personality structure in the next phase of recovery (rehabilitation). Furthermore, if AUD was also associated with a comorbid state (gambling involvement), anxiety as indicated by Harm Avoidance (HA) temperament factor was described by higher values (Study 4).

The first hypothesis (H1) that the body responds comprehensively and immediately to the anxiety situation that appears in the body's autonomic response, was confirmed. Based on the results of the self-reported STAI questionnaire, it was demonstrated that anxiety level was elevated considerably during the Trier Social Stress Test (TSST; Kirschbaum et al., 1989). TSST was used since it provides a moderate laboratory social stress situation which incorporated speaking and arithmetic tasks in front of a three-member staff provoking anxiety and several studies used similar situations to induce elevated anxiety (de Wit et al., 2003; Phillips & Giancola, 2008). Furthermore, earlier studies reported that TSST accompanies with higher level of anxiety therefore our results are consistent with the previous studies (Abe et al., 2020; de Wit et al., 2003; Erquicia et al., 2020; Trotman et al., 2019). This increase in anxiety level also appeared parallel with physiological reactions (myoelectric waves of stomach and small intestine, heart rate, body temperature and galvanic skin response). In our study, the stomach and small intestine showed the highest sensitivity to gastrointestinal myoelectric activation during anxiety-provoking tasks. According to the literature, acute stress (e.g. mirror drawing test and arithmetic task) can increase gastric myoelectric activity among healthy participants (Homma, 2005; Riezzo et al., 1996). Although the colon did not show a significant difference during stress induction, previous literature suggested that stress showed a moderate increase in colon motility (Rao et al., 1998) and the intestinal transit was shorter in generalised anxiety disorder compared to healthy controls (Gorard et al., 1996). According to the recent literature, it draw attention to the relationship between anxiety/stress and gastrointestinal symptoms. The theoretical basis of this association is based on the gut-brain axis (GBA) which allows bidirectional communication between the central nervous system and the GI tract through neural and humoral pathways (De Palma et al., 2014). Individuals with gastrointestinal symptoms are commonly reported by patients with anxiety disorders (Fadgyas-Stanculete et al., 2014; Haug et al., 2002). In general, constipation, nausea, diarrhea and abdominal distress are often in these diagnoses (Fadgyas-Stanculete et al., 2014; Haug et al., 2002). However, the relationship between the GI diseases and anxiety are bidirectional since functional GI diseases may maintain the anxiety symptoms and lead to reduced quality of life (e.g. negative impact on work) (Fadgyas-Stanculete et al., 2014).

Furthermore, as acute stress elevated the activity of the sympathetic nervous system, there was also an increase in values of heart rate (HR) which was also appeared in our study. Thus, it can be concluded that HR increased during stress-induced anxiety which is in line with the previous studies (Jezova et al., 2004; Trotman et al., 2019) and this increase was simultaneous with the gastrointestinal tract. Examining changes in HR is essential because anxiety and the emergence of stress can lead to cardiovascular disease (Lagraauw et al., 2015). The stress induction of TSST protocol elevated the mean HR by 33.4%, which is similar with the previously published data (Jezova et al., 2004; Jönsson et al., 2010; Kirschbaum et al., 1989; Kudielka et al., 2004).

In addition, acute stress induction elevates body temperature (BT) through human thermoregulation, which is a multifaceted process under the regulation of the central nervous system (Vinkers et al., 2013). Thus, similar to previous results, BT also increased in the stress-

induced anxiety situation, i.e., the body temperature of the subjects elevated by 0.35 degrees. Since body temperature was tested less frequently on a human sample, the results are inconsistent in the previous literature. For instance, increased axillary BT was recorded during psychological stress induction (Marazziti et al., 1992) but the temperature measured at the periphery (upper arm skin) did not elevate significantly during the TSST (Vinkers et al., 2013). However, BT was examined on the abdominal surface in our study so it seems that the abdominal surface is also suitable for measuring anxiety induced by stress induction.

During the stress induction of TSST, galvanic skin response (GSR) decreased which was applied as a further physiological tool to measure stress level, and it also provided realtime monitoring during the study. GSR is one of the most commonly used measurement for assessing the activity of the sweat glands and evaluating the level of anxiety and stress response. Numerous supportive literature are available which concluded that anxiety and acute stress have a great impact on the functions of the sweat gland (Allen etal., 2014; Guez et al., 2016; Jezova et al., 2004; Robert-McComb et al., 2015). Therefore, our results are consistent with the previous studies (Allen et al., 2014; Guez et al., 2016; Jezova et al., 2015).

In the last 20-minute period, the subjects could take a rest in the recovery phase according to the TSST protocol. During this phase, the participants continuously calmed down and the physiological parameters normalized, as indicated by the decreased values of HR and GI tract contractions.

The current results emphasized that a comprehensive autonomic response was demonstrated in a stress-induced anxiety situation and specifically the gut-brain axis had an essential role. These alternations of the parameters also contribute to understand the stress-induced anxiety mechanisms. It is proposed that the understanding and detecting the physiological responses of anxiety is essential especially among patients with various psychiatric disorders. For instance, stress and anxiety may participate in the development of affective and alcohol use disorder and play a crucial role in the course of these disorders (Becker, 2012; Goodwin et al., 2002) therefore examining anxiety level is a key issue regarding psychiatric disorders.

Scientific literature points out the co-occurrence of anxiety and AUD (Boschloo et al., 2011; Grant et al., 2004). In the clinical phase of AUD, patients can be examined during withdrawal syndrome and early recovery phase regarding anxiety. For measuring the severity of alcohol withdrawal syndrome, Clinical Institute Withdrawal Assessment of Alcohol, Revised (CIWA-Ar) is recommended by the nationals guidelines and scientific literature (Hoffman &

Weinhouse, 2021; National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE), 2017; Sachdeva et al., 2015). In addition, several articles demonstrated the appropriate psychometric characteristics of CIWA-Ar suggesting the robustness of the tool (Bakhla et al., 2014; Higgins et al., 2019; Pittman et al., 2007; Sullivan et al., 1989). The second hypothesis (H2) was confirmed that CIWA-Ar is an ecological valid tool and the course of alcohol withdrawal syndrome can be followed using the tool. According to the results of the meta-analysis, the aggregated CIWA-Ar total scores followed the course of AWS which suggested that our findings showed a significant decrease of CIWA-Ar total scores during the course of AWS. These results indicated that CIWA-Ar appropriately monitored the course of AWS which showed the ecological validity of this measure. Besides reducing the symptoms of AWS, further aim during the treatment of AWS is to prevent the development of DT. During AWS, the presence of DT is connected to a worse prognosis, it may lead to death in approximately 1-5% of the patients (Schuckit et al., 1995). If the AWS is uncomplicated, the symptoms decrease continually as the syndrome progresses due to the natural process of withdrawal. However, this reduction can be facilitated by the adequate pharmacological treatment. Our results confirmed that CIWA-Ar can be used regularly by clinicians and health care professionals in health care, which can contribute to the choice of medication treatment and the monitoring of the course of AWS. Based on the results, CIWA-Ar follows the course of AWS therefore it was suitable for detailed symptomatic examination of alcohol withdrawal syndrome.

During AWS, the emergence of the symptoms are connected with negative mood state such as elevated anxiety (De Witte et al., 2003). Based on the symptomatic analysis of CIWA-Ar, the third hypothesis (H3) was confirmed that anxiety appeared and followed the course of alcohol withdrawal syndrome. The fourth hypothesis (H4) was also confirmed since anxiety was one of the most substantial symptom during alcohol withdrawal syndrome. The value of anxiety was particularly high since it was the second highest score of the CIWA-items at the beginning of AWS. Furthermore, anxiety reduced throughout the course of AWS and its decrease was stable. Moreover, if the Anxiety item was not considered in case of assessing CIWA-Ar, the reliability of the measurement also weakened. Considering the literature, an elevated level of anxiety, dysphoria, negative emotional state and stress is induced during alcohol withdrawal which is caused by the decrease in dopamine release in nucleus accumbens (De Witte et al., 2003). However, the symptoms can be alleviated by drinking alcohol connecting to an increase of dopamine activity in nucleus accumbens which was also examined in preclinical studies such as in rats (Weiss et al., 1996). Further neurobiological studies found a possible dopaminergic etiology which was associated mood-related symptoms during AWS

(Laine et al., 1999). In addition, changes in plasma serotonin and noradrenaline level were detailed in AWS (Patkar et al., 2003) which are also connected to the degree of anxiety.

The fifth hypothesis (H5) was confirmed that the Harm Avoidance (HA) temperament factor was elevated among AUD patients with and without GD symptoms compared to the normative sample. Harm Avoidance temperament factor which was considered as anxiety indicator was evaluated by the self-report questionnaire TCI-R, which is often used in addictive disorders to explore the personality structure (Cunningham-Williams et al., 2005; Janiri et al., 2007; Jiménez-Murcia et al., 2010, 2021; Moragas et al., 2015). Differences in personality structure have an impact on the risk of developing psychopathological conditions, including substance use, especially in the case of alcohol use disorder (Cloninger & Svrakic, 1997). Related to this, Cloninger created two subtypes of alcohol dependence that specifically drawn attention to the role of personality structure regarding differentiation (Cloninger, 1987; Cloninger et al., 1996). In Cloninger's alcohol dependence typology, while Type 1 tends to have a higher HA, Novelty seeking shows a higher value in case of Type 2 (Cloninger et al., 1996). High HA has also been reported in previous studies among AUD patients therefore our results are in a good agreement with previous articles (Andó et al., 2014; Evren et al., 2007). In general, the high anxiety indicator of AUD patients can be explained by the use of alcohol as a selfmedication opportunity to help reduce and relieve the negative emotions of the subject (Robinson et al., 2009). In addition, the importance of anxiety was also emphasized in the present thesis since an elevated level of Harm Avoidance temperament variable was demonstrated among AUD patients with gambling involvement compared to the normative sample. Previous studies reported that higher HA was resulted in predictor of elevated psychopathology and severity of the gambling disorder (GD) (Moragas et al., 2015). Similarly, Potenza et al. (2001) demonstrated that high rates of anxiety was reported among GD patients which was caused by the gambling activities. However, a few studies did not demonstrate changes in HA values in case of gambling severity among pathological gamblers (Cunningham-Williams et al., 2005). Similarly to Cloninger's alcohol dependence typology, gambling subtypes can be also differentiated (including Behavioral Conditioned, Emotionally Vulnerable and Antisocial-Impulsive subtypes) and anxiety plays a central role in this framework: Emotionally Vulnerable group have poor emotional coping skills and these individuals are often anxious before the gambling activities which they try to alleviate with gambling (Blaszczynski & Nower, 2002). It is conceivable that persons often gamble because they would like to avoid negative emotions therefore this will be a self-regulation as well as a coping mechanism for the individual (Ledgerwood & Petry, 2010).

The sixth hypothesis (H6) was confirmed that Harm Avoidance temperament factor showed even higher levels values in AUD patients comorbid with GD symptoms compared to AUD patients. In addition, more severe alcohol consumption was reported among AUD patients with comorbid GD symptoms compared to AUD patients without GD symptoms. These findings are consistent with the previous scientific literature since several articles demonstrated the higher rates of alcohol use which was connected to concurrent GD (Blaszczynski & Nower, 2002; Kovács et al., 2020; Toneatto et al., 2002). For instance, del Pino-Gutiérrez et al. (2017) reported that alcohol consumption was a predictor of greater GD severity. In addition, it can be assumed that the patients may became more vulnerable for developing and maintain more severe symptoms in case of comorbidity. Furthermore, problem gamblers were also described with elevated general psychopathological symptoms measured with GSI than patients with substance use disorder with non-problem gambling group. At the same time, no significant differences were found regarding anxiety between the two groups (Petry, 2000). Nevertheless, to best of our knowledge, literature examining the personality structure of AUD patients with GD symptoms compared to AUD patients without GD symptoms is scarce. In the study of del Pino-Gutiérrez et al. (2017), the impact of alcohol consumption and risk of alcohol dependence was examined on gambling disorder. Although the authors found that HA was high in GD patients, it was not a significant difference regarding the alcohol consumption level. Their results showed that the high risk of alcohol dependence group did not report significantly higher HA values than the low risk or abuse group (del Pino-Gutiérrez et al., 2017).

Based on the fourth and fifth hypotheses, it was demonstrated that anxiety indicator Harm Avoidance temperament factor appeared markedly in the AUD and AUD+GD group compared to the normative sample, and if there is also comorbid GD involvement in AUD patients, the HA value is even higher. These results showed a new perspective which is suitable to demonstrate the personality constellations which are focusing on the maladaptive effect among AUD patients with GD involvement. Thus, anxiety also occurs which can be explored in another form. Individualized treatment is essential which emphasizes the exploration of the comorbid anxiety symptoms during rehabilitation. These findings are suitable to develop a multimodal treatment approach which specifically focus on the role of personality structure to reduce the development of relapse and have beneficial effects on treatment outcomes (Crescentini et al., 2015; Ledgerwood & Petry, 2006).

Several limitations need to be taken into account when interpreting the results of this present thesis. Overall, it is worthwhile to extend the usage of different additional tools to assess a more comprehensive investigation. In case of Study 1, the investigation was a preliminary

study with a limited number of subjects therefore the sample size must be increased in the future. In case of Study 2, only the course assessed by the CIWA-Ar total scores were measured, however, other symptoms such as vital signs (e.g. blood pressure or pulse) could be a further important outcome variables regarding AWS. In the view of Study 2, since the course of AWS takes 5-10 days (McKeon et al., 2008; Mirijello et al., 2015) but only two measurement intervals (day 1-3 and day 4-9) were defined and compared statistically in this study. Several studies did not report the daily data of the CIWA-Ar scores comprehensively therefore aggregated scores could be used in the present meta-analysis. This methodological diversity resulted in a relatively smaller sample size and comparable units of data. In addition, one of the limitation of Study 2 was the significant methodological heterogeneity due to the different pharmacotherapy. Furthermore, several alcohol-related factors (e.g. duration of alcohol consumption or alcohol dependence and consumed alcohol in grams) were not detailed in all included studies therefore these data could not be incorporated in the moderator analysis due to insufficient data. Moreover, only English articles were searched and the incorporated data were only from the European region and included mainly men. Therefore, these could potentially lead language, geographical and gender bias (Grégoire et al., 1995; Holdcroft, 2007). In case of Study 2, it is important to note that the CIWA-Ar item scores were not published in the articles therefore we could not investigate the aggregated CIWA-Ar items symptomatically. In contrast, symptomatic analysis was conducted based on the means, standard deviations and psychometric calculations in case of the Study 3. Considering Study 3 and Study 4, the enrolled patients were mainly men. However, this rate is in a good agreement with earlier studies which showed that the prevalence of alcohol use disorder is higher among men and the treatment-seeking patients are mainly men (Brady & Randall, 1999). Considering the Study 4, it needs to be addressed that GD is a heterogeneous condition and the preferred type of gambling activity (e.g. slot machine or poker) can have an impact on personality structure (Moragas et al., 2015). However, because of the smaller sample size, this study did not differentiate the potential gambling subtypes. Finally, GD symptoms were defined in case of 1+ value on the SOGS. The explanation for that is that the traditional scoring of the SOGS considered a score above 0 as subclinical GD symptoms, while score \geq 5 suggested probable GD. Nevertheless, some authors emphasized that only scores of 5+ should suggest the occurrence of GD symptoms to avoid false positive cases (Goodie et al., 2013) but others indicate that the cut-off score should be raised even higher (Stinchfield, 2002).

Our results highlighted the importance of examining anxiety comprehensively in case of alcohol use disorder, as anxiety accompanies the clinical appearance of the complication and comorbidity of AUD. Based on our results, it can be concluded that anxiety appeared in different clinical phases of AUD, in alcohol withdrawal syndrome and also occurred without AWS symptoms in case of the comorbidity of AUD. In our studies, anxiety was explored by several measurement tools which were assigned to each stages of AUD and approached from several perspectives. We propose a comprehensive assessment possibility to determine anxiety which includes a non-invasive physiological measurement, clinician's observations as well as self-report questionnaires. This framework highlights the complex understanding of anxiety level and provides new perspective on the prevention and treatment. Future research would also consider investigating treatment outcomes (e.g. relapse) and the role of craving which has a strong association with anxiety and also has an impact on the potential relapse (Sinha et al., 2011). Furthermore, it was demonstrated that craving was also positively associated with trait anxiety and it was negatively correlated with the duration of abstinence therefore it is essential to explore its impact (Mathew et al., 1979). In conclusion, comorbid conditions associated with alcohol use disorder are difficult to treat and untreated anxiety can affect quality of life and can contribute to relapse. Therefore, the development of adequate therapy can be considered as priority issue and targeted prevention programs are needed that specifically focuses on anxiety as a comorbid condition.

VIII. MAIN FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS

In the present thesis, anxiety was examined comprehensively and defined differently in normal and clinical sample in case of the complication and comorbidity of alcohol use disorder (AUD). A total of four studies were conducted and several measurement tools were assigned due to the different characteristics of the participants. Among normal population, the changes of state anxiety were demonstrated simultaneously with the acute autonomic response of anxiety and the essential role of the gut brain-axis was emphasized. In the treatment-seeking AUD sample, anxiety accompanied the clinical process of AUD in different forms. Thus, anxiety appeared in alcohol withdrawal syndrome (AWS) and during rehabilitation, respectively. The course and the symptoms became measurable with the Clinical Institute Withdrawal Assessment of Alcohol, Revised (CIWA-Ar) which was translated and validated by our research group. Furthermore, CIWA-Ar was validated with aggregated CIWA-Ar scores for the first time which demonstrated that the tool is ecological valid since it followed the course of AWS. According to the symptomatic analysis, anxiety was decreased during the 6 measurements. Furthermore, the key role of anxiety was seen during AWS which was confirmed by the psychometric analyses. Early rehabilitation was also examined where

comorbid gambling involvement which is one of the most common comorbid behavioral addiction in AUD was further studied regarding anxiety. For this purpose, the anxiety of AUD patients with and without gambling involvement was examined compared to a normative sample. Anxiety was indicated as Harm Avoidance temperament scale assessed by Temperament and Character Inventory, Revised (TCI-R). It was demonstrated that Harm Avoidance was higher in the two groups compared to the normative sample. However, when the AUD and AUD+GD groups were compared, the AUD+GD group showed a significantly higher Harm Avoidance than the AUD group. Consequently, anxiety was even more pronounced among AUD patients in case of symptoms of comorbid gambling involvement. The results demonstrated that the anxiety accompanied the clinical phase of AUD appearing in a different form which may determine the treatment planning and the outcome of treatment.

In the present thesis, evaluating the anxiety was investigated comprehensively by different ways. Anxiety response was observed in normal population using a physiological device and self-report questionnaire. In case of the clinical stages of AUD and comorbid gambling involvement, tools examining anxiety were assigned in each phase. A comprehensive measurement procedure is proposed to examine anxiety in AUD patients which includes a non-invasive physiological measurement, clinician's observations as well as self-report questionnaires. This measurement procedure can provide a holistic approach for the further investigation of AUD patients.

According to the results of the studies, novel findings of the present thesis are the following:

- 1. In normal population, an acute and autonomic response appeared simultaneously with the occurrence of an elevated anxiety, indicating the global and comprehensive effect of the human body on the anxiety.
- An increased response of the stomach and small intestine appeared during an anxietyprovoked situation which supports the importance of subsequent examination of the gut-brain axis.
- 3. The ecological validity of the CIWA-Ar was confirmed for the first time based on aggregated CIWA-Ar scores.
- 4. Anxiety occurred as one of the central symptoms of alcohol withdrawal syndrome based on the symptomatic analyses, i.e. anxiety can be interpreted as an indicator of withdrawal therefore monitoring anxiety is especially important.

- 5. Anxiety also maintains during rehabilitation and it was revealed in another form as temperament variable.
- 6. Anxiety is even more pronounced among alcohol use disorder patients in case of symptoms of comorbid gambling involvement which may indicate that patients with comorbid conditions are more vulnerable therefore their exposure to relapse may be even higher.

Our results highlight the importance of the comprehensive investigation of anxiety in alcohol use disorder. Since the co-occurrence of AUD and anxiety causes a more severe prognosis therefore it is important to explore the comorbidity of these disorders. Treating alcohol use disorder with comorbid conditions is difficult, and untreated anxiety can contribute to relapse and affect quality of life. Therefore, the treatment efficacy can increase if anxiety in AUD is taking into account and it is beneficial to use personalized therapy focusing on the anxiety level. Further research is needed in case of alcohol withdrawal syndrome to comprehensively examine anxiety and further manifestations of anxiety after rehabilitation.

IX. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my supervisors, Prof. Dr. Zoltán Janka and Dr. Bálint Andó, for creating the research concepts and for giving me the opportunity to develop my scientific skills under their supervision.

Furthermore, I would like to extend my thanks to Prof. Dr. János Kálmán for providing the framework of the studies. In addition, I wish to express my gratitude to the Addiction Research Group, Department of Psychiatry, University of Szeged, particularly Dr. Bettina Kata Kádár, Dr. Csenge Sára Kovács and Dr. Bence András Lázár for their advice and work. I am immensely grateful for the staff and patients of the Addiction Ward, Department of Psychiatry, University of Szeged for their contribution and work. I am also particularly grateful to Dr. Ildikó Kovács, who helped to introduce the theoretical and methodological background of metaanalysis and to whom I was able to turn with any questions during my work. I would like to thank Dr. Zsolt Datki and the staff of the Institute of Pharmacology and Pharmacotherapy of the University of Szeged, especially Dr. Róbert Gáspár and Dr. Kálmán Ferenc Szűcs, for their cooperation which made our translational research possible.

My acknowledgements would not be complete without thanking for my husband, Dr. Árpád Tibor Csomós who is a continuing source of encouragement and optimism throughout. Last, but not least I would like to thank my loved ones for being supportive and patient during the writing of this thesis.

X. REFERENCES

Abe, R. Y., Silva, T. C., Dantas, I., Curado, S. X., Madeira, M. S., de Sousa, L. B., & Costa, V. P. (2020). Can psychologic stress elevate intraocular pressure in healthy individuals? *Ophthalmology. Glaucoma*, *3*(6), 426–433. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ogla.2020.06.011

Abebe, D. S., Lien, L., & Bramness, J. G. (2021). Effects of age and gender on the relationship between alcohol use disorder and somatic diseases: A national register study in Norway. *BMJ Open*, *11*(11), e050608. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2021-050608

Addolorato, G., Balducci, G., Capristo, E., Attilia, M. L., Taggi, F., Gasbarrini, G., & Ceccanti, M. (1999). Gamma-hydroxybutyric acid (GHB) in the treatment of alcohol withdrawal syndrome: A randomized comparative study versus benzodiazepine. *Alcoholism, Clinical and Experimental Research*, 23(10), 1596–1604.

Agabio, R., Baldwin, D. S., Amaro, H., Leggio, L., & Sinclair, J. M. A. (2021). The influence of anxiety symptoms on clinical outcomes during baclofen treatment of alcohol use disorder: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, *125*, 296–313. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2020.12.030

Agricola, R., Mazzarino, M., Urani, R., Gallo, V., & Grossi, E. (1982). Treatment of acute alcohol withdrawal syndrome with carbamazepine: A double-blind comparison with tiapride. *Journal of International Medical Research*, *10*(3), 160–165. https://doi.org/10.1177/030006058201000305

Allen, A. P., Kennedy, P. J., Cryan, J. F., Dinan, T. G., & Clarke, G. (2014). Biological and psychological markers of stress in humans: Focus on the Trier Social Stress Test. *Neuroscience* & *Biobehavioral Reviews*, *38*, 94–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2013.11.005

Allen, J. P., Litten, R. Z., Fertig, J. B., & Babor, T. (1997). A review of research on the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT). *Alcoholism, Clinical and Experimental Research*, *21*(4), 613–619.

Aluja, A., Lucas, I., Blanch, A., & Blanco, E. (2019). Personality and disinhibitory psychopathology in alcohol consumption: A study from the biological-factorial personality models of Eysenck, Gray and Zuckerman. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *142*, 159–165. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2019.01.030

American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, fifth edition*. American Psychiatric Association. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.books.9780890425596

Andó, B., Kovács, I., Janka, Z., & Demetrovics, Z. (2016). [Gambling disorder and alcohol use disorder—Similarities and differences]. *Psychiatria Hungarica*, *31*(2), 169–175.

Andó, B., Rózsa, S., Kurgyis, E., Szkaliczki, A., Demeter, I., Szikszay, P., Demetrovics, Z., Janka, Z., & Álmos, P. Z. (2014). Direct and indirect symptom severity indicators of alcohol dependence and the personality concept of the biosocial model. *Substance Use & Misuse*, *49*(4), 418–426. https://doi.org/10.3109/10826084.2013.841250

Angres, D. H. (2010). The Temperament and Character Inventory in addiction treatment. *FOCUS*, 8(2), 187–198. https://doi.org/10.1176/foc.8.2.foc187

Anker, J. J., & Kushner, M. G. (2019). Co-occurring alcohol use disorder and anxiety: Bridging psychiatric, psychological, and neurobiological perspectives. *Alcohol Research: Current Reviews*, 40(1), arcr.v40.1.03. https://doi.org/10.35946/arcr.v40.1.03

Bakhla, A. K., Khess, C. R. J., Verma, V., Hembram, M., Praharaj, S. K., & Soren, S. (2014). Factor structure of CIWA-Ar in alcohol withdrawal. *Journal of Addiction*, 2014, e745839. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/745839

Banger, M., Philipp, M., Herth, T., Hebenstreit, M., & Aldenhoff, J. (1992). Development of a rating scale for quantitative measurement of the alcohol withdrawal syndrome. *European Archives of Psychiatry and Clinical Neuroscience*, 241(4), 241–246. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02190260

Beck, A. T., Epstein, N., Brown, G., & Steer, R. A. (1988). An inventory for measuring clinical anxiety: Psychometric properties. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 893–897.

Becker, H. C. (2012). Effects of alcohol dependence and withdrawal on stressresponsiveness and alcoholconsumption. *Alcohol Research: Current Reviews*, *34*(4), 448–458. Scopus.

Begg, C. B., & Mazumdar, M. (1994). Operating characteristics of a rank correlation test for publication bias. *Biometrics*, *50*(4), 1088–1101.

Benzer, D. G. (1990). Quantification of the alcohol withdrawal syndrome in 487 alcoholic patients. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 7(2), 117–123. https://doi.org/10.1016/0740-5472(90)90007-D

Björkqvist, S.-E., Isohanni, M., Mäkelä, R., & Malinen, L. (1976). Ambulant treatment of alcohol withdrawal symptoms with carbamazepine: A formal multicentre double-blind comparison with placebo. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, *53*(5), 333–342. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0447.1976.tb00081.x

Blaszczynski, A., & Nower, L. (2002). A pathways model of problem and pathological gambling. *Addiction*, *97*(5), 487–499. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1360-0443.2002.00015.x

Boschloo, L., Vogelzangs, N., Smit, J. H., van den Brink, W., Veltman, D. J., Beekman, A. T. F., & Penninx, B. W. J. H. (2011). Comorbidity and risk indicators for alcohol use disorders among persons with anxiety and/or depressive disorders: Findings from the Netherlands Study of Depression and Anxiety (NESDA). *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *131*(1–3), 233–242. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2010.12.014

Brady, K. T., & Randall, C. L. (1999). Gender differences in substance use disorders. *Psychiatric Clinics of North America*, 22(2), 241–252. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0193-953X(05)70074-5

Breese, G. R., Overstreet, D. H., & Knapp, D. J. (2005). Conceptual framework for the etiology of alcoholism: A 'kindling'/stress hypothesis. *Psychopharmacology*, *178*(4), 367–380. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-004-2016-2

Bruce, S. E., Yonkers, K. A., Otto, M. W., Eisen, J. L., Weisberg, R. B., Pagano, M., Shea, M. T., & Keller, M. B. (2005). Influence of psychiatric comorbidity on recovery and recurrence in generalized anxiety disorder, social phobia, and panic disorder: A 12-Year prospective study. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *162*(6), 1179–1187. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.162.6.1179

Burns, L., & Teesson, M. (2002). Alcohol use disorders comorbid with anxiety, depression and drug use disorders. Findings from the Australian National Survey of Mental Health and Well Being. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, *68*(3), 299–307. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0376-8716(02)00220-x

Caetano, R., Clark, C. L., & Greenfield, T. K. (1998). Prevalence, trends, and incidence of alcohol withdrawal symptoms. *Alcohol Health and Research World*, 22(1), 73–80.

Castillo-Carniglia, A., Keyes, K. M., Hasin, D. S., & Cerdá, M. (2019). Psychiatric comorbidities in alcohol use disorder. *The Lancet. Psychiatry*, *6*(12), 1068–1080. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(19)30222-6

Cavus, S. Y., Dilbaz, N., Darcin, A. E., Eren, F., Kaya, H., & Kaya, O. (2012). Alterations in serum BDNF levels in early alcohol withdrawal and comparison with healthy controls. *Klinik Psikofarmakoloji Bülteni-Bulletin of Clinical Psychopharmacology*, 22(3), 210–2015.

Chourishi, A., Raichandani, O. P., Chandraker, S., & Chourishi, S. (2010). A comparative study of efficacy & tolerability of Lorazepam and gabapentin in the treatment of alcohol withdrawal syndrome. *IJPRS*, *3*(2), 80–84.

Civitello, D., Finn, D., Flood, M., Salievski, E., Schwarz, M., & Storck, Z. (2014). How do physiological responses such as respiratory frequency, heart rate, and galvanic skin response (GSR) change under emotional stress? https://minds.wisconsin.edu/handle/1793/80044

Cloninger, C. R. (1986). A unified biosocial theory of personality and its role in the development of anxiety states. *Psychiatric Developments*, 4(3), 167–226.

Cloninger, C. R. (1987). Neurogenetic Adaptive Mechanisms in Alcoholism. *Science*, 236(4800), 410–416. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.2882604

Cloninger, C. R. (1999). *The temperament and character inventory-revised*. Center for Psychobiology of Personality, Washington University.

Cloninger, C. R., Sigvardsson, S., & Bohman, M. (1996). Type I and Type II Alcoholism: An Update. *Alcohol Health and Research World*, 20(1), 18–23.

Cloninger, C. R., & Svrakic, D. M. (1997). Integrative psychobiological approach to psychiatric assessment and treatment. *Psychiatry*, *60*(2), 120–141. https://doi.org/10.1080/00332747.1997.11024793

Cloninger, C. R., Svrakic, D. M., & Przybeck, T. R. (1993). A psychobiological model of temperament and character. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, *50*(12), 975–990. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.1993.01820240059008

Cofresí, R. U., Bartholow, B. D., & Fromme, K. (2020). Female drinkers are more sensitive than male drinkers to alcohol-induced heart rate increase. *Experimental and Clinical Psychopharmacology*, 28(5), 540–552. https://doi.org/10.1037/pha0000338

Coman, G. J., Burrows, G. D., & Evans, B. J. (1997). Stress and anxiety as factors in the onset of Problem gambling: Implications for treatment. *Stress Medicine*, *13*(4), 235–244. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1099-1700(199710)13:4<235::AID-SMI748>3.0.CO;2-4

Comprehensive Meta-Analysis Software (CMA). (2020). https://www. meta-analysis.com/ (accessed 07.10.2020)

Costa, P. T., & McCrae, R. R. (1985). *The NEO Personality Incentury Manual*. Psychological Assessment Resources.

Crescentini, C., Matiz, A., & Fabbro, F. (2015). Improving personality/character traits in individuals with alcohol dependence: The influence of mindfulness-oriented meditation. *Journal of Addictive Diseases*, *34*(1), 75–87. https://doi.org/10.1080/10550887.2014.991657

Cunningham-Williams, R. M., Grucza, R. A., Cottler, L. B., Womack, S. B., Books, S. J., Przybeck, T. R., Spitznagel, E. L., & Cloninger, C. R. (2005). Prevalence and predictors of pathological gambling: Results from the St. Louis personality, health and lifestyle (SLPHL)

study. Journal of Psychiatric Research, 39(4), 377–390. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2004.09.002

Dawson, D. A., Goldstein, R. B., & Grant, B. F. (2007). Rates and correlates of relapse among individuals in remission from DSM-IV alcohol dependence: A 3-year follow-up. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, *31*(12), 2036–2045. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1530-0277.2007.00536.x

De Palma, G., Collins, S. M., Bercik, P., & Verdu, E. F. (2014). The microbiota-gutbrain axis in gastrointestinal disorders: Stressed bugs, stressed brain or both? *The Journal of Physiology*, 592(14), 2989–2997. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2014.273995

de Wit, H., Söderpalm, A. H. V., Nikolayev, L., & Young, E. (2003). Effects of acute social stress on alcohol consumption in healthy subjects. *Alcoholism, Clinical and Experimental Research*, 27(8), 1270–1277. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.ALC.0000081617.37539.D6

De Witte, Ph., Pinto, E., Ansseau, M., & Verbanck, P. (2003). Alcohol and withdrawal: From animal research to clinical issues. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 27(3), 189– 197. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0149-7634(03)00030-7

del Pino-Gutiérrez, A., Fernández-Aranda, F., Granero, R., Tárrega, S., Valdepérez, A., Agüera, Z., Håkansson, A., Sauvaget, A., Aymamí, N., Gómez-Peña, M., Moragas, L., Baño, M., Honrubia, M., Menchón, J. M., & Jiménez-Murcia, S. (2017). Impact of alcohol consumption on clinical aspects of gambling disorder. *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing*, *26*(2), 121–128. https://doi.org/10.1111/inm.12221

Derogatis, L. R. (1977). SCL-90-R, Administration, Scoring and Procuderes Manual for the Revised Version,. John Hopkins University, School of Medicine.

Di Nicola, M., Tedeschi, D., De Risio, L., Pettorruso, M., Martinotti, G., Ruggeri, F., Swierkosz-Lenart, K., Guglielmo, R., Callea, A., Ruggeri, G., Pozzi, G., Di Giannantonio, M., & Janiri, L. (2015). Co-occurrence of alcohol use disorder and behavioral addictions: Relevance of impulsivity and craving. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, *148*, 118–125. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2014.12.028

Driessen, M., Meier, S., Hill, A., Wetterling, T., Lange, W., & Junghanns, K. (2001). The course of anxiety, depression and drinking behaviours after completed detoxification in alcoholics with and without comorbid anxiety and depressive disorders. *Alcohol and Alcoholism*, *36*(3), 249–255. https://doi.org/10.1093/alcalc/36.3.249

Durazzo, T. C., & Meyerhoff, D. J. (2017). Psychiatric, demographic, and brain morphological predictors of relapse after treatment for an alcohol use disorder. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, *41*(1), 107–116. https://doi.org/10.1111/acer.13267

Egger, M., Davey Smith, G., Schneider, M., & Minder, C. (1997). Bias in meta-analysis detected by a simple, graphical test. *BMJ (Clinical Research Ed.)*, *315*(7109), 629–634. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.315.7109.629

el-Guebaly, N., Patten, S. B., Currie, S., Williams, J. V. A., Beck, C. A., Maxwell, C. J., & Wang, J. L. (2006). Epidemiological associations between gambling behavior, substance use & mood and anxiety disorders. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 22(3), 275–287. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-006-9016-6

Erquicia, J., Valls, L., Barja, A., Gil, S., Miquel, J., Leal-Blanquet, J., Schmidt, C., Checa, J., & Vega, D. (2020). [Emotional impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on healthcare workers in one of the most important infection outbreaks in Europe]. *Medicina Clinica*, *155*(10), 434–440. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.medcli.2020.07.006

Evren, C., Evren, B., Yancar, C., & Erkiran, M. (2007). Temperament and Character Model of Personality Profile of alcohol- and drug-dependent inpatients. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 48(3), 283–288. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.comppsych.2006.11.003

Eysenck, H. J., & Eysenck, S. B. G. (1975). *Manual of the Eysenck Personality Questionnaire (junior & adult)*. Hodder and Stoughton Educational.

Fadgyas-Stanculete, M., Buga, A.-M., Popa-Wagner, A., & Dumitrascu, D. L. (2014). The relationship between irritable bowel syndrome and psychiatric disorders: From molecular changes to clinical manifestations. *Journal of Molecular Psychiatry*, 2(1), 4. https://doi.org/10.1186/2049-9256-2-4

Flygenring, J., Hansen, J., Holst, B., Petersen, E., & Sørensen, A. (1984). Treatment of alcohol withdrawal symptoms in hospitalized patients. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, *69*(5), 398–408. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0447.1984.tb02511.x

Friedman, E. S., Clark, D. B., & Gershon, S. (1992). Stress, anxiety, and depression: Review of biological, diagnostic, and nosologic issues. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, 6(4), 337– 363. https://doi.org/10.1016/0887-6185(92)90005-R

Gerevich, J., Bácskai, E., & Rózsa, S. (2006). [Prevalence of hazardous alcohol use]. *Psychiatria Hungarica*, 21(1), 45–56.

Girish, K., Vikram Reddy, K., Pandit, L. V, Pundarikaksha, H. P., Vijendra, R., Vasundara, K., Manjunatha, R., Nagraj, M., & Shruthi, R. (2016). A randomized, open-label, standard controlled, parallel group study of efficacy and safety of baclofen, and chlordiazepoxide in uncomplicated alcohol withdrawal syndrome. *Biomedical Journal*, *39*(1), 72–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bj.2015.09.002

Goodie, A. S., MacKillop, J., Miller, J. D., Fortune, E. E., Maples, J., Lance, C. E., & Campbell, W. K. (2013). Evaluating the South Oaks Gambling Screen with DSM-IV and DSM-5 criteria: Results from a diverse community sample of gamblers. *Assessment*, *20*(5), 523–531. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073191113500522

Goodwin, R. D., Stayner, D. A., Chinman, M. J., Wu, P., Tebes, J. K., & Davidson, L. (2002). The relationship between anxiety and substance use disorders among individuals with severe affective disorders. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 43(4), 245–252. https://doi.org/10.1053/comp.2002.33500

Gorard, D. A., Gomborone, J. E., Libby, G. W., & Farthing, M. J. (1996). Intestinal transit in anxiety and depression. *Gut*, *39*(4), 551–555. https://doi.org/10.1136/gut.39.4.551

Grant, B. F., Stinson, F. S., Dawson, D. A., Chou, S. P., Dufour, M. C., Compton, W., Pickering, R. P., & Kaplan, K. (2004). Prevalence and co-occurrence of substance use disorders and independent mood and anxiety disorders: Results from the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, *61*(8), 807–816. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.61.8.807

Grant, J. E., Brewer, J. A., & Potenza, M. N. (2006). The neurobiology of substance and behavioral addictions. *CNS Spectrums*, *11*(12), 924–930. https://doi.org/10.1017/S109285290001511X

Grégoire, G., Derderian, F., & Le Lorier, J. (1995). Selecting the language of the publications included in a meta-analysis: Is there a tower of babel bias? *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 48(1), 159–163. https://doi.org/10.1016/0895-4356(94)00098-B

Guez, J., Saar-Ashkenazy, R., Keha, E., & Tiferet-Dweck, C. (2016). The effect of Trier Social Stress Test (TSST) on item and associative recognition of words and pictures in healthy participants. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *7*, 507. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00507

Gyollai Á., Urbán R., Kun B., Kökönyei G., Eisinger A., Magi A., & Demetrovics Z. (2013). A Szerencsejáték Súlyossága Kérdőív magyar változatának (PGSI-HU) bemutatása. *Psychiatria Hungarica*, 274–280.

Haber, P., Australia, & Department of Health and Ageing. (2009). *Guidelines for the treatment of alcohol problems*. Dept. of Health and Ageing.

Hall, W., & Zador, D. (1997). The alcohol withdrawal syndrome. *The Lancet*, 349(9069), 1897–1900. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(97)04572-8

Hamilton, M. (1959). The assessment of anxiety states by rating. *British Journal of Medical Psychology*, 32(50).

Haug, T. T., Mykletun, A., & Dahl, A. A. (2002). Are anxiety and depression related to gastrointestinal symptoms in the general population? *Scandinavian Journal of Gastroenterology*, *37*(3), 294–298. https://doi.org/10.1080/003655202317284192

Heberlein, A., Büscher, P., Schuster, R., Kleimann, A., Lichtinghagen, R., Rhein, M., Kornhuber, J., Bleich, S., Frieling, H., & Hillemacher, T. (2015). Do changes in the BDNF indicate of promoter methylation the risk alcohol relapse? European *Neuropsychopharmacology*: The Journal of the European College of Neuropsychopharmacology, 25(11), 1892-1897. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euroneuro.2015.08.018

Heberlein, A., Käser, M., Lichtinghagen, R., Rhein, M., Lenz, B., Kornhuber, J., Bleich, S., & Hillemacher, T. (2014). TNF-α and IL-6 serum levels: Neurobiological markers of alcohol consumption in alcohol-dependent patients? *Alcohol (Fayetteville, N.Y.)*, 48(7), 671–676. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.alcohol.2014.08.003

Heberlein, A., Muschler, M., Wilhelm, J., Frieling, H., Lenz, B., Gröschl, M., Kornhuber, J., Bleich, S., & Hillemacher, T. (2010). BDNF and GDNF serum levels in alcoholdependent patients during withdrawal. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology & Biological Psychiatry*, 34(6), 1060–1064. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2010.05.025

Heberlein, A., Schuster, R., Kleimann, A., Groh, A., Kordon, A., Opfermann, B., Lichtinghagen, R., Gröschl, M., Kornhuber, J., Bleich, S., Frieling, H., & Hillemacher, T. (2017). Joint Effects of the Epigenetic Alteration of Neurotrophins and Cytokine Signaling: A Possible Exploratory Model of Affective Symptoms in Alcohol-Dependent Patients? *Alcohol and Alcoholism (Oxford, Oxfordshire)*, 52(3), 277–281. https://doi.org/10.1093/alcalc/agw100

Higgins, J., Bugajski, A. A., Church, D., Oyler, D., Parli, S., Halcomb, P., Fryman, L., & Bernard, A. C. (2019). A psychometric analysis of CIWA-Ar in acutely ill and injured hospitalized patients. *Journal of Trauma Nursing*, 26(1), 41–49. https://doi.org/10.1097/JTN.000000000000414

Ho, R. C., Zhang, M. W. B., Tsang, T. Y., Toh, A. H., Pan, F., Lu, Y., Cheng, C., Yip, P. S., Lam, L. T., Lai, C.-M., Watanabe, H., & Mak, K.-K. (2014). The association between internet addiction and psychiatric co-morbidity: A meta-analysis. *BMC Psychiatry*, *14*, 183. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-244X-14-183

Hoffman, R. S., & Weinhouse, G. L. (2021). *Management of moderate and severe alcohol withdrawal syndromes*. https://www.uptodate.com/contents/management-of-moderate-and-severe-alcohol-withdrawal-syndromes

Holdcroft, A. (2007). Gender bias in research: How does it affect evidence based medicine? *Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine*, 100(1), 2–3. https://doi.org/10.1177/014107680710000102

Homma, S. (2005). The effects of stress in response to mirror drawing test trials on the electrogastrogram, heart rate and respiratory rate of human subjects. *Journal of Smooth Muscle Research*, *41*(4), 221–233. https://doi.org/10.1540/jsmr.41.221

Horvat, P., Stefler, D., Murphy, M., King, L., McKee, M., & Bobak, M. (2018). Alcohol, pattern of drinking and all-cause mortality in Russia, Belarus and Hungary: A retrospective indirect cohort study based on mortality of relatives. *Addiction*, *113*(7), 1252–1263. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.14189

Hu, X., Wang, Y., Pruessner, J. C., & Yang, J. (2018). Interdependent self-construal, social evaluative threat and subjective, cardiovascular and neuroendocrine stress response in Chinese. *Hormones and Behavior*, *106*, 112–121. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2018.10.006

IBM Corp. (2016). IBM SPSS statistics for windows.

Illig, K. A., Eagleton, M., Kaufman, D., Lyden, S. P., Shortell, C. K., Waldman, D., & Green, R. M. (2001). Alcohol withdrawal after open aortic surgery. *Annals of Vascular Surgery*, *15*(3), 332–337. https://doi.org/10.1007/s100160010083

Janiri, L., Martinotti, G., Dario, T., Schifano, F., & Bria, P. (2007). The gamblers' Temperament and Character Inventory (TCI) personality profile. *Substance Use & Misuse*, 42(6), 975–984. https://doi.org/10.1080/10826080701202445

Jezova, D., Makatsori, A., Duncko, R., Moncek, F., & Jakubek, M. (2004). High trait anxiety in healthy subjects is associated with low neuroendocrine activity during psychosocial stress. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry*, 28(8), 1331–1336. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2004.08.005

Jiménez-Murcia, S., Álvarez-Moya, E. M., Stinchfield, R., Fernández-Aranda, F., Granero, R., Aymamí, N., Gómez-Peña, M., Jaurrieta, N., Bove, F., & Menchón, J. M. (2010). Age of onset in pathological gambling: Clinical, therapeutic and personality correlates. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, *26*(2), 235–248. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-009-9175-3

Jiménez-Murcia, S., Giménez, M., Granero, R., López-González, H., Gómez-Peña, M., Moragas, L., Baenas, I., Pino-Gutiérrez, A. D., Codina, E., Mena-Moreno, T., Valenciano-Mendoza, E., Mora-Maltas, B., Valero-Solís, S., Rivas-Pérez, S., Guillén-Guzmán, E., Menchón, J. M., & Fernández-Aranda, F. (2021). Psychopathogical status and personality correlates of problem gambling severity in sports bettors undergoing treatment for gambling disorder. *Journal of Behavioral Addictions*, *1*(aop). https://doi.org/10.1556/2006.2020.00101 Johnston, A. L., Thevos, A. K., Randall, C. L., & Anton, R. F. (1991). Increased severity of alcohol withdrawal in in-patient alcoholics with a co-existing anxiety diagnosis. *British Journal of Addiction*, 86(6), 719–725. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1360-0443.1991.tb03098.x

Jönsson, P., Wallergård, M., Österberg, K., Hansen, Å. M., Johansson, G., & Karlson, B. (2010). Cardiovascular and cortisol reactivity and habituation to a virtual reality version of the Trier Social Stress Test: A pilot study. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, *35*(9), 1397–1403. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2010.04.003

Kaufman, J., & Charney, D. (2000). Comorbidity of mood and anxiety disorders. *Depression and Anxiety*, *12*(S1), 69–76. https://doi.org/10.1002/1520-6394(2000)12:1+<69::AID-DA9>3.0.CO;2-K

Kendler, K. S., Prescott, C. A., Myers, J., & Neale, M. C. (2003). The structure of genetic and environmental risk factors for common psychiatric and substance use disorders in men and women. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, *60*(9), 929–937. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.60.9.929

Kirschbaum C, Pirke KM, & Helhammer DH. (1989). The 'Trier Social Stress Test'–a tool for investigating psychobiological stress responses in a laboratory setting. *Neuropsychobiology*, 28(1–2), 76–81.

Knott, D. H., Lerner, W. D., Davis-Knott, T., & Fink, R. D. (1981). Decision for alcohol detoxication. *Postgraduate Medicine*, *69*(5), 65–78. https://doi.org/10.1080/00325481.1981.11715753

Kong, F., Zhang, M., Wang, H., Liu, D., Wu, Y., Chai, N., & Wu, W. (2017). Symptomtriggered alcohol vapor inhalation for postopera- tive alcohol withdrawal syndrome in patients with gastroe- sophageal carcinoma. *J. BUON*, *22*(5), 1266–1271.

Kovács, I., Demeter, I., Janka, Z., Demetrovics, Z., Maraz, A., & Andó, B. (2020). Different aspects of impulsivity in chronic alcohol use disorder with and without comorbid problem gambling. *PLOS ONE*, *15*(1), e0227645. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0227645

Kudielka, B. M., Buske-Kirschbaum, A., Hellhammer, D. H., & Kirschbaum, C. (2004). Differential heart rate reactivity and recovery after psychosocial stress (TSST) in healthy children, younger adults, and elderly adults: The impact of age and gender. *International Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, *11*(2), 116–121. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327558ijbm1102_8 Kun, B., Balázs, H., Arnold, P., Paksi, B., & Demetrovics, Z. (2012). Gambling in Western and Eastern Europe: The Example of Hungary. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 28(1), 27–46. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-011-9242-4

Kushner, M. G., Abrams, K., Thuras, P., Hanson, K. L., Brekke, M., & Sletten, S. (2005). Follow-up study of anxiety disorder and alcohol dependence in comorbid alcoholism treatment patients. *Alcoholism, Clinical and Experimental Research*, *29*(8), 1432–1443. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.alc.0000175072.17623.f8

Kushner, M. G., Sher, K. J., & Erickson, D. J. (1999). Prospective analysis of the relation between DSM-III anxiety disorders and alcohol use disorders. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, *156*(5), 723–732. https://doi.org/10.1176/ajp.156.5.723

Lagraauw, H. M., Kuiper, J., & Bot, I. (2015). Acute and chronic psychological stress as risk factors for cardiovascular disease: Insights gained from epidemiological, clinical and experimental studies. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, *50*, 18–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2015.08.007

Laine, T. P. J., Ahonen, A., Räsänen, P., & Tiihonen, J. (1999). Dopamine transporter availability and depressive symptoms during alcohol withdrawal. *Psychiatry Research: Neuroimaging*, *90*(3), 153–157. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0925-4927(99)00019-0

Lázár, B. A., Pribék, I. K., Kovács, C., Demeter, I., Kálmán, J., Szemelyácz, J., Kelemen, G., Janka, Z., Demetrovics, Z., & Andó, B. (2019). [The first step towards a unified approach: Validation of the Hungarian version of the Clinical Institute Withdrawal Assessment of Alcohol, Revised in Hungarian general hospital settings]. *Orvosi Hetilap*, *160*(30), 1184–1192. https://doi.org/10.1556/650.2019.31424

Ledgerwood, D. M., & Petry, N. M. (2006). What do we know about relapse in pathological gambling? *Clinical Psychology Review*, 26(2), 216–228. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2005.11.008

Ledgerwood, D. M., & Petry, N. M. (2010). Subtyping pathological gamblers based on impulsivity, depression and anxiety. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors*, *24*(4), 680–688. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0019906

Lesieur, H. R., & Blume, S. B. (1987). The South Oaks Gambling Screen (SOGS): A new instrument for the identification of pathological gamblers. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *144*(9), 1184–1188. https://doi.org/10.1176/ajp.144.9.1184

Liu, M.-Y., Li, N., Li, W. A., & Khan, H. (2017). Association between psychosocial stress and hypertension: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neurological Research*, *39*(6), 573–580. https://doi.org/10.1080/01616412.2017.1317904

Logue, P. E., Gentry, W. D., Linnoila, M., & Erwin, C. W. (1978). Effect of alcohol consumption on state anxiety changes in male and female nonalcoholics. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, *135*(9), 1079–1081. https://doi.org/10.1176/ajp.135.9.1079

Lopez-Quintero, C., Hasin, D. S., de los Cobos, J. P., Pines, A., Wang, S., Grant, B. F., & Blanco, C. (2011). Probability and predictors of remission from life-time nicotine, alcohol, cannabis or cocaine dependence: Results from the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions. *Addiction*, *106*(3), 657–669. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1360-0443.2010.03194.x

Lorains, F. K., Cowlishaw, S., & Thomas, S. A. (2011). Prevalence of comorbid disorders in problem and pathological gambling: Systematic review and meta-analysis of population surveys. *Addiction*, *106*(3), 490–498. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1360-0443.2010.03300.x

Maciel, C. (2004). Psychiatric complications of alcoholism: Alcohol withdrawal syndrome and other psychiatric disorders. *Rev Bras Psiquiatr*, 26(Supl1), 47–50.

Marazziti, D., Di Muro, A., & Castrogiovanni, P. (1992). Psychological stress and body temperature changes in humans. *Physiology & Behavior*, 52(2), 393–395. https://doi.org/10.1016/0031-9384(92)90290-I

Markett, S., Montag, C., & Reuter, M. (2016). Anxiety and harm avoidance. In *Neuroimaging personality, social cognition, and character* (pp. 91–112). Elsevier Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-800935-2.00005-1

Mathew, R. J., Claghorn, J. L., & Largen, J. (1979). Craving for alcohol in sober alcoholics. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 136(4B), 603–606.

McKeon, A., Frye, M. A., & Delanty, N. (2008). The alcohol withdrawal syndrome. Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry, 79(8), 854–862. https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp.2007.128322

McLellan, A. T., Luborsky, L., Woody, G. E., & O'brien, C. P. (1980). An improved diagnostic evaluation instrument for substance abuse patients: The Addiction Severity Index. *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, *168*(1), 26–33.

Mirijello, A., D'Angelo, C., Ferrulli, A., Vassallo, G., Antonelli, M., Caputo, F., Leggio, L., Gasbarrini, A., & Addolorato, G. (2015). Identification and management of alcohol withdrawal syndrome. *Drugs*, 75(4), 353–365. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40265-015-0358-1

Moher, D., Liberati, A., Tetzlaff, J., & Altman, D. G. (2009). Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: The PRISMA statement. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *151*(4), 264–269, W64. https://doi.org/10.7326/0003-4819-151-4-200908180-00135

Moos, R. H., & Moos, B. S. (2006). Rates and predictors of relapse after natural and treated remission from alcohol use disorders. *Addiction*, *101*(2), 212–222. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1360-0443.2006.01310.x

Moragas, L., Granero, R., Stinchfield, R., Fernández-Aranda, F., Fröberg, F., Aymamí, N., Gómez-Peña, M., Fagundo, A. B., Islam, M. A., del Pino-Gutiérrez, A., Agüera, Z., Savvidou, L. G., Arcelus, J., Witcomb, G. L., Sauchelli, S., Menchón, J. M., & Jiménez-Murcia, S. (2015). Comparative analysis of distinct phenotypes in gambling disorder based on gambling preferences. *BMC Psychiatry*, *15*(1), 86. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-015-0459-0

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE). (2017). Alcohol-use disorders: Diagnosis and management of physical complications. NICE. https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg100/chapter/recommendations

Noble, J. M., & Weimer, L. H. (2014). Neurologic Complications of Alcoholism.Continuum:LifelongLearninginNeurology,20(3),624.https://doi.org/10.1212/01.CON.0000450970.99322.84

Paksi, B., Arnold, P., Kun, B., & Demetrovics, Z. (2011). [Association of the different types of substance use behaviors in the Hungarian adult population]. *Psychiatria Hungarica*, *26*(4), 258–266.

Pasche, S. (2012). Exploring the comorbidity of anxiety and dubstance use disorders. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, *14*(3), 176–181. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11920-012-0264-0

Patkar, A. A., Gopalakrishnan, R., Naik, P. C., Murray, H. W., Vergare, M. J., & Marsden, C. A. (2003). Changes in plasma noradrenaline and serotonin levels and craving during alcohol withdrawal. *Alcohol and Alcoholism*, *38*(3), 224–231. https://doi.org/10.1093/alcalc/agg055

Perrotta, G. (2019). Anxiety disorders: Definitions, contexts, neural correlates and strategic therapy. *Journal of Neurology and Neuroscience*, 6(1), 15.

Petry, N. M. (2000). Psychiatric symptoms in problem gambling and non-problem gambling substance abusers. *American Journal on Addictions*, 9(2), 163–171. https://doi.org/10.1080/10550490050173235

Petry, N. M., Stinson, F. S., & Grant, B. F. (2005). Comorbidity of DSM-IV Pathological Gambling and Other Psychiatric Disorders: Results From the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions. *The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, *66*(5), 3385.

58

Phillips, J. P., & Giancola, P. R. (2008). Experimentally induced anxiety attenuates alcohol-related aggression in men. *Experimental and Clinical Psychopharmacology*, *16*(1), 43–56. https://doi.org/10.1037/1064-1297.16.1.43

Pittman, B., Gueorguieva, R., Krupitsky, E., Rudenko, A. A., Flannery, B. A., & Krystal, J. H. (2007). Multidimensionality of the Alcohol Withdrawal Symptom Checklist: A factor analysis of the Alcohol Withdrawal Symptom Checklist and CIWA-Ar. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, *31*(4), 612–618. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1530-0277.2007.00345.x

Potenza, M. N., Steinberg, M. A., McLaughlin, S. D., Wu, R., Rounsaville, B. J., & O'Malley, S. S. (2001). Gender-related differences in the characteristics of problem gamblers using a gambling helpline. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *158*(9), 1500–1505. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.158.9.1500

Pribék, I. K., Kovács, I., Kádár, B. K., Kovács, C. S., Richman, M. J., Janka, Z., Andó, B., & Lázár, B. A. (2020). Dataset for the manuscript entitled—Evaluation of the course and treatment of Alcohol Withdrawal Syndrome with the Clinical Institute Withdrawal Assessment for Alcohol – Revised a systematic review-based met.xlsx.. https://doi.org/Dataset for the manuscript entitled - Evaluation of the course and treatment of Alcohol Withdrawal Syndrome with the Clinical Institute Withdrawal Syndrome with the Clinical Institute Withdrawal Syndrome with the Clinical Institute Withdrawal Assessment for Alcohol – Revised a systematic review-based met.xlsx.. https://doi.org/Dataset for the manuscript entitled - Evaluation of the course and treatment of Alcohol Withdrawal Syndrome with the Clinical Institute Withdrawal Assessment for Alcohol – Revised a systematic review-based met.xlsx..

Rácz, J., Pogány, C., & Máthé-Árvay, N. (2005). Az EuropASI (Addikció Súlyossági Index) magyar nyelvű változatának reliabilitás- és validitásvizsgálata. *Magyar Pszichológiai Szemle*, 57(4), 587–603. https://doi.org/10.1556/mpszle.57.2002.4.4

Rao, S. S. C., Hatfield, R. A., Suls, J. M., & Chamberlain, M. J. (1998). Psychological and physical stress induce differential effects on human colonic motility. *American Journal of Gastroenterology*, *93*(6), 985–990. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1572-0241.1998.00293.x

Ribadier, A., & Varescon, I. (2019). Anxiety and depression in alcohol use disorder individuals: The role of personality and coping strategies. *Substance Use & Misuse*, *54*(9), 1475–1484. https://doi.org/10.1080/10826084.2019.1586950

Riezzo, G., Porcelli, P., Guerra, V., & Giorgio, I. (1996). Effects of different psychophysiological stressors on the cutaneous electrogastrogram in healthy subjects. *Archives of Physiology and Biochemistry*, 104(3), 282–286. https://doi.org/10.1076/apab.104.3.282.12899 Robert-McComb, J. J., Casey, S., Kim, Y., Hart, M., Norman, R., & Qian, X. (2015). Experimental models for research in stress and behavior. *Journal of Behavioral and Brain Science*, 05(07), 295. https://doi.org/10.4236/jbbs.2015.57030

Robinson, J., Sareen, J., Cox, B. J., & Bolton, J. (2009). Self-medication of anxiety disorders with alcohol and drugs: Results from a nationally representative sample. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, 23(1), 38–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.janxdis.2008.03.013

Rózsa, S., Kállai, J., Osváth, A., & Bánki, M. C. (2005). Temperamentum és Karakter: Cloninger pszichobiológiai modellje. A Cloninger-féle Temperamentum és Karakter Kérdőív felhasználói kézikönyve. Medicina.

Rózsa, S., & Kő, N. (2008). A Wechsler intelligenciateszttel szerzett nemzetközi eredmények áttekintése. A WISC-IV Gyermek Intelligenciateszt Magyar Kézikönyve. Hazai Tapasztalatok, Vizsgálati Eredmények És Normák. OS Hungary Tesztfejlesztő Kft.

Rózsa, S., Kő, N., Komlósi, A., Somogyi, E., Dezső, L., Kállai, J., Osváth, A., & Bánki, M. C. (2004). A személyiség pszichobiológiai modellje: A temperamentum és karakter kérdőívvel szerzett hazai tapasztalatok. *Pszichológia*, *3*, 283–304.

Sachdeva, A., Choudhary, M., & Chandra, M. (2015). Alcohol withdrawal syndrome: Benzodiazepines and beyond. *Journal of Clinical and Diagnostic Research : JCDR*, *9*(9), VE01–VE07. https://doi.org/10.7860/JCDR/2015/13407.6538

Schneier, F. R., Foose, T. E., Hasin, D. S., Heimberg, R. G., Liu, S.-M., Grant, B. F., & Blanco, C. (2010). Social anxiety disorder and alcohol use disorder co-morbidity in the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions. *Psychological Medicine*, *40*(6), 977–988. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291709991231

Schuckit, M. A., & Hesselbrock, V. (2004). Alcohol dependence and anxiety disorders. *FOCUS*, 2(3), 440–453. https://doi.org/10.1176/foc.2.3.440

Schuckit, M. A., Irwin, M., & Brown, S. A. (1990). The history of anxiety symptoms among 171 primary alcoholics. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol*, *51*(1), 34–41. https://doi.org/10.15288/jsa.1990.51.34

Schuckit, M. A., Tipp, J. E., Reich, T., Hesselbrock, V. M., & Bucholz, K. K. (1995). The histories of withdrawal convulsions and delirium tremens in 1648 alcohol dependent subjects. *Addiction (Abingdon, England)*, *90*(10), 1335–1347. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1360-0443.1995.901013355.x

Selye, H. (1950). Stress and the General Adaptation Syndrome. *British Medical Journal*, *1*(4667), 1383–1392.

Selye, H. (1984). The Stress of Life. 2nd revised paperback ed. McGraw Hill.

Sengul, C., Sengul, C. B., Okay, T., & Dilbaz, N. (2009). Memantine as an add-on therapy in alcohol withdrawal syndrome. *Klinik Psikofarmakoloji Bülteni-Bulletin of Clinical Psychopharmacology*, *19*(4), 359–364.

Shaffer, H. J., & Hall, M. N. (1996). Estimating the prevalence of adolescent gambling disorders: A quantitative synthesis and guide toward standard gambling nomenclature. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, *12*(2), 193–214. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01539174

Shaffer, H. J., & Hall, M. N. (2001). Updating and refining prevalence estimates of disordered gambling behaviour in the United States and Canada. *Canadian Journal of Public Health*, 92(3), 168–172. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03404298

Shaffer, H. J., & Hall, M. N. (2002). The natural history of gambling and drinking problems among casino employees. *The Journal of Social Psychology*, *142*(4), 405–424. https://doi.org/10.1080/00224540209603909

Sharma, R., Smith, S. A., Boukina, N., Dordari, A., Mistry, A., Taylor, B. C., Felix, N., Cameron, A., Fang, Z., Smith, A., & Ismail, N. (2020). Use of the birth control pill affects stress reactivity and brain structure and function. *Hormones and Behavior*, *124*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2020.104783

Shaw, J. M., Kolesar, G. S., Sellers, E. M., Kaplan, H. L., & Sandor, P. (1981). Development of optimal treatment tactics for alcohol withdrawal. I. Assessment and effectiveness of supportive care. *Journal of Clinical Psychopharmacology*, *1*(6), 382–389. https://doi.org/10.1097/00004714-198111000-00006

Sher, K. J., & Levenson, R. W. (1982). Risk for alcoholism and individual differences in the stress-response-dampening effect of alcohol. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *91*(5), 350–367. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-843X.91.5.350

Shiffler, R. E. (1988). Maximum Z Scores and Outliers. *The American Statistician*, 42(1), 79–80.

Sinha, R., Fox, H. C., Hong, K. A., Hansen, J., Tuit, K., & Kreek, M. J. (2011). Effects of adrenal sensitivity, stress- and cue-induced craving, and anxiety on subsequent alcohol relapse and treatment outcomes. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, *68*(9), 942–952. https://doi.org/10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2011.49

Sipos, K., Sipos, M., & Spielberger, C. D. (1994). A State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI) magyar változata/The Hungarian version of State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI). *Pszichodiagnosztikai Vademecum 2, Mérei F. Szakács F.*, 123–148.

Slutske, W. S., Eisen, S., True, W. R., Lyons, M. J., Goldberg, J., & Tsuang, M. (2000). Common genetic vulnerability for pathological gambling and alcohol dependence in men. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, *57*(7), 666–673. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.57.7.666

Smith, J. P., & Randall, C. L. (2012). Anxiety and alcohol use disorders. *Alcohol Research : Current Reviews*, *34*(4), 414–431.

Sönmez, M. B., Görgülü, Y., Köse Cinar, R., Kahyaci Kili, E., Ünal, A., & Vardar, M. E. (2016). Alterations of BDNF and GDNF serum levels in alcohol-addicted patients during alcohol withdrawal. *The European Journal of Psychiatry*, *30*(2), 109–118.

Spielberger, C. D., Gorsuch, R. L., Lushene, P. R., Vagg, P. R., & Jacobs, A. G. (1983). *Manual for the State-Trait Anxietry, Inventory (Form Y).* Consulting Psychogist Press.

Spielberger, C. D., Gorsuch, R. L., & Lushene, R. E. (1970). *Manual for the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory*. Consultin Psychogist Press.

Spies, C. D., Dubisz, N., Funk, W., Blum, S., Müller, C., Rommelspacher, H., Brummer, G., Specht, M., Hannemann, L., & Striebel, H. W. (1995). Prophylaxis of alcohol withdrawal syndrome in alcohol-dependent patients admitted to the intensive care unit after tumour resection. *British Journal of Anaesthesia*, 75(6), 734–739. https://doi.org/10.1093/bja/75.6.734

Spies, C. D., Morciniec, P., Lenzenhuber, E., Müller, C., Marks, C., Helling, K., Runkel, N., Berger, G., Blum, S., & Rommelspacher, H. (1998). β-Carbolines in alcohol-dependent intensive care patients during prophylactics and therapy of alcohol withdrawal syndrome. *Addiction Biology*, *3*(3), 281–294. https://doi.org/10.1080/13556219872092

Steimer, T. (2002). The biology of fear- and anxiety-related behaviors. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, 4(3), 231–249.

Stinchfield, R. (2002). Reliability, validity, and classification accuracy of the South Oaks Gambling Screen (SOGS). *Addictive Behaviors*, 27(1), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0306-4603(00)00158-1

Stroup, D. F., Berlin, J. A., Morton, S. C., Olkin, I., Williamson, G. D., Rennie, D., Moher, D., Becker, B. J., Sipe, T. A., & Thacker, S. B. (2000). Meta-analysis of observational studies in epidemiology: A proposal for reporting. Meta-analysis Of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (MOOSE) group. *JAMA*, 283(15), 2008–2012. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.283.15.2008

Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA). (2012). SAMHSA Working Definition of Recovery: 10 Guiding Principles of Recovery. https://store.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/d7/priv/pep12-recdef.pdf Sullivan, J. T., Sykora, K., Schneiderman, J., Naranjo, C. A., & Sellers, E. M. (1989). Assessment of Alcohol Withdrawal: The revised clinical institute withdrawal assessment for alcohol scale (CIWA-Ar). *British Journal of Addiction*, *84*(11), 1353–1357. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1360-0443.1989.tb00737.x

Szűcs, K. F., Grosz, G., Süle, M., Sztojkov-Ivanov, A., Ducza, E., Márki, A., Kothencz, A., Balogh, L., & Gáspár, R. (2018). Detection of stress and the effects of central nervous system depressants by gastrointestinal smooth muscle electromyography in wakeful rats. *Life Sciences*, 205, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2018.05.015

Talbot, P. A. (2011). Timing of efficacy of thiamine in wernicke's disease in alcoholicsatrisk.JournalofCorrectionalHealthCare,17(1),46–50.https://doi.org/10.1177/1078345810385913

Tavakol, M., & Dennick, R. (2011). Making sense of Cronbach's alpha. In *International journal of medical education* (Vol. 2, pp. 53–55). Int J Med Educ. https://doi.org/10.5116/ijme.4dfb.8dfd

The global burden of disease attributable to alcohol and drug use in 195 countries and territories, 1990–2016: A systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. (2018). *The Lancet. Psychiatry*, *5*(12), 987–1012. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(18)30337-7

Thevos, A. K., Johnston, A. L., Latham, P. K., Randall, C. L., Adinoff, B., & Malcolm, R. (1991). Symptoms of anxiety in inpatient alcoholics with and without DSM-III-R anxiety diagnoses. *Alcoholism, Clinical and Experimental Research*, *15*(1), 102–105. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1530-0277.1991.tb00525.x

Toneatto, T., Skinner, W., & Dragonetti, R. (2002). Patterns of substance use in treatment-seeking problem gamblers: Impact on treatment outcomes. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 58(7), 853–859. https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.2011

Trotman, G. P., Veldhuijzen van Zanten, J. J. C. S., Davies, J., Möller, C., Ginty, A. T., & Williams, S. E. (2019). Associations between heart rate, perceived heart rate, and anxiety during acute psychological stress. *Anxiety, Stress, and Coping, 32*(6), 711–727. https://doi.org/10.1080/10615806.2019.1648794

Tucker, J. A., Chandler, S. D., & Witkiewitz, K. (2020). Epidemiology of recovery from alcohol use disorder. *Alcohol Research: Current Reviews*, 40(3), 02. https://doi.org/10.35946/arcr.v40.3.02

UNDCP & WHO. (1992). Report of the UN International Drug Control Programme and World Health Organization. *Technical Report Series*, V. 92-54439 T. Unoka, Z., Rózsa, S., ko, N., Kállai, J., Fábián, Á., & Simon, L. (2004). A Derogatisféle Tünetlista hazai alkalmazásá val szerzett tapasztalatok. *Psychiatria Hungarica*, *19*, 235– 243.

Vinkers, C. H., Penning, R., Hellhammer, J., Verster, J. C., Klaessens, J. H. G. M., Olivier, B., & Kalkman, C. J. (2013). The effect of stress on core and peripheral body temperature in humans. *Stress*, *16*(5), 520–530. https://doi.org/10.3109/10253890.2013.807243

Vorspan, F., Mehtelli, W., Dupuy, G., Bloch, V., & Lépine, J.-P. (2015). Anxiety and substance use disorders: Co-occurrence and clinical issues. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, *17*(2), 4. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11920-014-0544-y

Wechsler, D. (2008). *Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale, Fourth Edition*. Psychological Corporation.

Weinstock, J., Ledgerwood, D. M., & Petry, N. M. (2007). Association between posttreatment gambling behavior and harm in pathological gamblers. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors: Journal of the Society of Psychologists in Addictive Behaviors*, 21(2), 185–193. https://doi.org/10.1037/0893-164X.21.2.185

Weiss, F., Parsons, L. H., Schulteis, G., Hyytiä, P., Lorang, M. T., Bloom, F. E., & Koob, G. F. (1996). Ethanol self-administration restores withdrawal-associated deficiencies in accumbal dopamine and 5-hydroxytryptamine release in dependent rats. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *16*(10), 3474–3485.

Wetterling, T., Kanitz, R.-D., Besters, B., Fischer, D., Zerfass, B., John, U., Spranger, H., & Driessen, M. (1997). A new rating scale for the assessment of the alcohol-withdrawal syndrome (AWS scale). *Alcohol and Alcoholism*, *32*(6), 753–760. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.alcalc.a008326

World Health Organization. (2018). *Global status report on alcohol and health 2018*. World Health Organization. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/274603.